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New business segments

In 2011, Sonoco changed its business segments to
better reflect its business mix following the acquisition
of Tegrant Holding Corporation. The new organization
consists of four segments, including three that were a
part of the previous structure—Consumer Packaging,
Paper and Industrial Converted Products and Packaging
Services. Our new segment is Protective Packaging,
which was created by combining Tegrant’s operations
with our legacy protective packaging business.

About the cover

The photos shown on the cover are representative of
Sonoco’s four business segments, including the new
Protective Packaging segment created following the
Tegrant acquisition. The private-label cans for Kroger®
brand coffees are made in Sonoco’s Consumer
Packaging segment; the Sonotube® and Sonovoid®
tubes, used for forming concrete columns during
construction, are manufactured by the Paper and
Industrial Converted Products segment; the expan-
ded polypropylene (EPP) foam encasement used for
Solar Hot USA’s water heater is produced by the new
Protective Packaging segment; and Sonoco’s Packaging
Services segment produced the counter displays
being used to launch new fragrances for Elizabeth
Arden. Today, all four segments are working together
as “one” Sonoco to support the requirements of our
many customers.

Forward-looking statements

Statements included in this 2011 Annual Report that
are not historical in nature, are intended to be,

and are hereby identified as “forward-looking
statements” for purposes of the safe harbor provided
by Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended. Additional information about “forward-
looking statements” is available on page 3 of the
enclosed Form 10-K or on the Company’s website

at sonoco.com.

In memory

Sonoco’s 2011 Annual Report is dedicated in memory
of Mary Ruth Austin. Not only a key contributor to this
year’s publication, she was an integral part of producing
Sonoco’s annual reports for the past nine years.



Financial Highlights
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* Gross profit: Net sales minus cost of sales

2 Return on nef assets: Net income plus after-tax net interest, divided by the net of average total assels,
minus average cash, minus average current liabilities, plus average short-term debt

* Net income adjusted for certain items further detailed on page 16 of Form 10-K

Strategic mission statement
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Sonoco intends to be the low-cost global leader in providing e

customer-preferred packaging solutions to selected value-added
segments where the Company expects to be either number one or
two in market share. Shareholder return, customer and employee
satisfaction, commitment to excellence, integrity, environmental
stewardship and a safe workplace will be the hallmarks of our

culture.

Strategic objective

To achieve average annual double-digit total return to share-
holders, with returns on capital and equity in the top quartile of
the Standard & Poor's 50O Index.
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To Qur Shareholders .

- global market share leadership and generated solid
operating cash flow.

In November 2011, we further diversified Sonoco’s
business mix by acquiring Tegrant for $550 million, the
largest acquisition in Sonoco’s history. This was not a
deal we just stumbled upon. The protective packaging
industry serves a wide range of growing consumer and
industrial markets and provides solid profit margins.
Sonoco had already built a successful, yet relatively
small, paper-based protective packaging business that
primarily serves the appliance market. As a result of this
experience, we made the decision to pursue a strategy
of becoming a leading supplier of custom-engineered

Harris E. DeLoach Jr.
Chairman and Chief
- Executive Officer

2011 PROVED TO BE A YEAR OF CHALLENGE AND CHANGE
FOR SONOCO. We experienced an unexpected decline in
industrial-related volumes late in the year. In addition, we
faced escalating raw material, energy, freight and other
costs during much of the year, and productivity was well
below our historical standards. Despite these significant
headwinds, Sonoco achieved record sales while attaining
the second highest base earnings before interest and
taxes, and third highest base earnings in Company
history. Furthermore, we completed the acquisition of
Tegrant Holding Corporation, which provides the
Company with a new growth platform and establishes
Sonoco as a leading provider of custom-engineered,
multi-material protective packaging in North America.

Changing business mix: Consumer, industrial

and Protective Packaging

Sonoco has remained a successful company for 112
years by adapting to changing market conditions. Yet our
vision remains clear. We are aligned around serving our
customers globally as one company delivering infinite
packaging solutions.

For the past several years, we've diversified Sonoco’s
business mix. Today, through acquisitions and new
business development, we've grown our consumer-
focused packaging and services businesses to account
for approximately 54% of the Company’s sales and 58%
of operating profits. We've pursued this strategy because
our consumer businesses tend to be more recession
resistant than our industrial-related businesses. Despite
the cyclicality, our industrial businesses have obtained

Sonoco 2011 Annual Report

protective packaging. We were looking for the right
opportunity and Tegrant met our criteria.

With this acquisition, Sonoco’s Protective Packaging
segment has become the North American leader in
fiber-based and expanded-foam protective packaging,
temperature-assurance packaging and retail security
packaging. In 2012, we estimate this new segment
should produce sales of approximately $560 million,
and the acquisition is expected to be accretive to
earnings. We believe this new business is not only
complementary to our existing consumer and industrial
businesses, but provides strong growth prospects in both
domestic and international markets. You can read more
about Sonoco’s new Protective Packaging segment on
pages 14-17.

2011 results
Sales grew to a record $4.5 billion in 2014, up $375 mil-
lion, or 9%, from 2010. Higher selling prices and acquisi-




tions were key drivers and together accounted for more
than 80% of the increase. Volume was up 1%, compared
with 2010, but was largely offset by negative mix. Higher
selling prices were principally driven by higher prices paid
for raw materials.

For 2011, net income attributable to Sonoco was
$217.5 million, compared with $201.1 million for 2010.
Base earnings in 2011 were $233.6 million ($2.29 per
diluted share), compared with $239.4 million ($2.34 per
diluted share) in 2010. This 2% year-over-year decline
was the result of a negative mix of business, higher labor
and other costs, and a higher effective tax rate, partially
offset by productivity gains and lower pension and man-
agement incentive costs.

Gross profit margin decreased to 16.8%, compared
with 18.6% in 2010. This decrease was primarily due to
negative mix and the impact of inflation in labor and other
costs more than offsetting productivity improvements.

The Company generated $245 million in cash from
operations during 2011, compared with $375 million
generated in 2010. The majority of the year-over-year

dollars

decline is attributable to higher 2011 pension contribu-
tions partially offset by a smaller amount of cash used to
fund working capital.

At the end of 2011, total debt was $1.3 billion, com-
pared with $621 million at the end of 2010. The Tegrant
acquisition, pension contributions and share repurchases
were primarily responsible for the increase. The Com-
pany’s debtto-total capital ratio was 47.4% at the end
of 2011, compared with 29.2% at the end of 2010.

Cash and cash equivalents at year end 2011 totaled
$175.5 million, compared with $158.2 million at the end
of 2010. Standard & Poor's ranks Sonoco as having the
best debt rating in the packaging industry with an invest-
ment grade rating of BBB+.

Consumer-focused growth
Consumer packaging preferences are changing, and as
a result, our customers’ needs have changed. Some of
these changes are driven by economic conditions, but
most are driven by consumers’ interest in what looks and
feels improved. No longer can a packaging company only
meet a single need of its customers. That is why Sonoco
has worked to position itself as the industry’s only “total
solutions” provider for consumer packaging and services.
Our unique offering starts with innovative packaging
design available across our diversified line of consumer
packaging products. We then are able to provide point-
of-purchase displays as well as supply chain services and
retail fulfillment. And finally, we offer the industry’s most
complete sustainability services, including sustainable
designs, packaging materials and recycling services.
Developing “intimacy,” or truly understanding the
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* needs of our customers, allows Sonoco to
create relationships that grow in collabo-
ration with our customers. For instance,
our Corporate Customer program, where
we place “one face” of senior account
relationship before our seven largest con-
sumer product customers, has continued
to build momentum.

Since starting our Corporate Customer
program in 2005, we have grown sales at
a compound rate of about 5% to nearly
$1.1 billion, or about 25%, of the Com-
pany’s total sales. 2011 was a very suc-
cessful year for this program as we
increased sales by nearly $90 million. In
addition, we were awarded several new
packaging and services contracts during
2011 that will add about $55 million in
new sales with these customers in 2012.

We're also focused on working to meet
consumers’ growing demand for private-
label and store brand products.

In 2011, we generated approximately
$165 million in private-label packaging
sales, representing about 10% of our
North American consumer packaging
revenue.

Approximately 15% of our North
American composite can sales were used
in private-label products. The largest private-label growth in
2011 was through the conversion of coffee brands for lead-
ing companies, including The Kroger Co., Mother Parkers
Tea & Coffee, Reily Foods Company, Pan American Coffee
Company and others, from metal cans to Sonoco compos-
ite cans. These conversions increased composite can unit
sales for coffee this year by nearly 35%.

Sonoco is also the only rigid plastic producer in North
America to have significant operations in blow molding,
thermoforming, injection molding and tube extrusion.
Since 2005, we have nearly tripled sales in our rigid plas-
tics businesses to approximately $620 million. This
exceptional growth has come from acquisitions and new
product development.

Over the past year, we added more than $75 million in
rigid plastic sales growth for several well-recognized food
and personal care brands. This growth will continue in

Sonoco 2011 Annual Report
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2012, with the mid-year completion of a new $15 million
blow-molding and injection-molding plant in Columbus,
Ohio. This new 142,000-square-foot facility will produce
packaging and components for personal care products
for Mast Global, the sourcing and logistics division of
Limited Brands.

In collaborating with our customers, we're also
leveraging our flexible packaging technologies into new
products and new markets. For instance, we're excited
about a new steamer venting technology developed for
frozen foods using our laser-scoring capability. Our
precision die-cutting technology, used so successfully for
cookies, was integrated into a new package for a cream
cheese product and expanded into confectionery items.

Our Packaging Services segment, which includes point-
of-purchase displays and global fulfillment solutions, is con-
tinuing to add international sales as our customers move



operations to emerging markets. In 2011, international
sales in this segment increased 37% to approximately
$278 million with growth from service centers in Poland,
Mexico and Brazil. We estimate that two-thirds of our
Packaging Services sales will come from international
markets in 2012, which is essentially the reverse of our
domestic-versus-international sales mix just four years ago.

Industrial businesses focused on productivity

and cost reduction

Sales in our Paper and Industrial Converted Products
segment were up 9% in 2011, almost entirely due to
higher selling prices for recovered paper and exchange
rates. Increased volume in reels and paper was offset by
lower tubes and cores volume in nearly every region of
the world due to weaker demand.

With many of our served industrial markets struggling,
we are focusing on reducing our unit cost to produce and
improving productivity. This is particularly important to
our paperboard mills. That is why we made the decision
to build a new biomass boiler system at our Hartsville,
S.C., manufacturing complex.

The new boiler system will cost approximately $75 mil-
lion and is expected to significantly reduce energy costs
and improve reliability of operations. Powered by wood
wastes from regional logging activity, the new cogenera-
tion system will produce low-cost “green” energy and
steam for our paper operations. Once in use in late 2013,
the project is expected to reduce our annual operating
costs by about $14 million.

Our Sonoco Recycling business was a strong earnings
contributor in 2011 as we grew collections by 6% with an
emphasis on expanding our residential material recovery
facilities (MRFs). We now serve nearly 150 communities

millions of dollars

$4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

*Those assets used in operations, cash and cash equivalents, invest-
ments in affiliates, headquarters facilities and prepaid expenses

and are expanding MRFs in Columbia, Charleston and
Greenville, S.C., and Charlotte, Raleigh and Jacksonville,
N.C.

Focused on the future

Entering 2012, we're cautious about the future pace and
sustainability of global economic improvement. We
remain focused on continuing to implement targeted
growth projects, particularly in our consumer-related
businesses; fully integrating Tegrant, including achieving
identified synergies; and continuing to drive cost out of
our operations.

We also remain focused on creating shareholder
value. Sonoco’s common sharehoiders have received
a total return of 59.9% (or 16.95% annualized) over the
past three years. In 2011, the Company paid approxi-
mately $115 million to our shareholders in quarterly cash
dividends. Sonoco provides its shareholders with the
largest dividend yield of any packaging company and has
paid quarterly cash dividends since 1925, including 29
consecutive years of increased payouts.

In an era when many companies come and go,
Sonoco has weathered the test of time. We are a mem-
ber of the New York Stock Exchange’s elite Century Club,
which represents 10% of NYSE U.S. listed companies
that have been able to not only survive but thrive for
more than 100 years. Building a company with nearly $4
billion in assets over 112 years has come from steady
growth and an ability to change. Our future as a leading
global packaging company is bright. We have built a solid
foundation, and we are clearly focused on the future.

| join our more than 19,600 employees in thanking
you for your continued support and for entrusting us with
your investment.

i & M2y

Harris E. DeLoach Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
March 16, 2012



Consumer Packaging

CONSUMER PACKAGING
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THE CONSUMER PACKAGING SEGMENT OF SONOCO PRO-
VIDES PACKAGING SOLUTIONS FOR MANY OF THE WORLD'S
BEST-KNOWN BRANDS of consumer food and nonfood
products. Overall the segment, which operates 79 plants

in various regions around the
world, and provides rigid paper,
plastic and flexible packaging,
accounted for approximately
44% of Sonoco’s net sales
during the year. A more com-
plete list of Sonoco’s con- V
sumer packaging products - L A
and services is included on S . gm
pages 3-4 of Form 10-K. .
A significant achievement

for Sonoco’s consumer pack-



In January 2011, Sonoco began supplying Unilever
with a lighter-welight package for its Wishbone® salad
dressing. In line with its sustainability goals, Unilever
requested a high-performance package with reduced

materials. Sonoco was able to meet these goals and
keep the bottle’s highly recognizable “wishbone”
shape and diamond pattem. Utilizing a finite element
analysis, Sonoco Plastics was able to reduce the
bottle’'s weight by 20%.

aging division in 2011 was the conversion of The
Kroger Co.s brands of coffee from metal cans to
high-performance composite cans. Sonoco is provid-
ing the Cincinnati, Ohio, based grocery retailer with
three different sizes of rigid paperboard containers,
flexible membrane ends, liners and the cans’ metal
bottoms. Sonoco also supplies the grocery retailer
with composite containers for Kroger® brand nuts,
powdered beverages, graham crackers and bread
crumbs.

Composite cans made by Sonoco are spiral-
wound from 100% recycled paperboard. Sonoco is
the world’s largest manufacturer of rigid paperboard-
based composite cans.
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ONSUMER PACKAGING
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Sonoco’s flexibles pack-

aging business in:20141

launched'a MicroVent™

technology, a new steam- ‘ =
release feature. This L S\l e
innovative technology v o
enhances package per-
formance by using propri-
etary precision scoring
that eliminates the need
for a valve and improves ; , , . .
cooking consistency. In L o B Et e | P e
the fourth quarter of i = \ ,;},5 o ' a‘ammm
2011, more than 13 mil- | @ ; .
lion units featuring the
MicroVent technology
were sold.
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Paper and Industrial Converted

SONOCO IS ALEADER IN RECYCLING SERVICES AND ONE OF

THE NATION'S LARGEST RECYCLERS, annually collecting

approximately three million tons of old corrugated contain-

ers (OCC), various grades of paper, metals and plastics.

Currently, Sonoco operates

six material recovery facilities

(MRFs), up from three in 2010,

including the Onslow County

MRF, shown above, which

1580 processes recyclables from
the Jacksonville, N.C., area.

1,600 In 2011, Sonoco Recycling
worked with various com-

500 panies to reduce their waste

PAPER AND INDUSTRIAL CONVERTED

$2,000

streams, one of which was The

Boeing Company, the world’s

10 Sonoco 2011 Annual Report



Molded wood plugs are produced at Sonoco's new $4.6,,miyllio'n ,
plant located in the Hartselle-Morgan'County, Ala., Industrial
Park. Sonoco is the largest producer of molded wood plugs
used primarily by the North American paper industry.Nine new
plug presses were installed in the plant in 2041, and additional
presses could be added based on market demand. The plant

Is located adjacent to the Company’s existing nailed wood/
plywood reels facility, providing an onsite source of wood chips.'

largest aerospace company. By working with Sonoco
Recycling, Boeing was able to achieve landfill-free status
at its South Carolina 787 Dreamliner facility.

In addition to working directly with Boeing South
Carolina, Sonoco Recycling collaborated with other suppli-
ers to implement a comprehensive recycling program with
point-of-use containers, as well as recycling centers
located across the Boeing site. Food scraps are collected
in cafeterias and breakrooms for composting. ltems that
cannot be reused, such as larger packaging materials, are
removed from the site by Sonoco Recycling for repurpos-
ing or recycling.

Sonoco Recycling also worked with Milliken & Co.,
Fruit of the Loom, Kraft Foods, Procter & Gamble,
Sonoco CorrFlex and Cascades Sonoco on their landfill-
free initiatives in 2011.

11



Paper and Industrial Converted

Turbine Generato

© Proces
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mot

Paper Mill
Process Ste,

Wood residué from South Carolina logging operations is
collected from afield. Similar woody biomass will be
used as fuel for Sonoco’s new-biomass boiler, expected
10 be operational in December 2013. The biomass mate-
rial burned at the plant will consist primarily of tree thin-
ning; wood waste and wood residue created by regional
logging activities: Approximately 400,000 tons of wood
biomass will be used 1o fuel the boiler each year, with
natural.gas used as a secondary fuel.

PAPER AND INDUSTRIAL CONVERTED
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Acontractor removesa
Sonotube® Finish Free®
concrete form from a
column at One57; a
high-rise; 90-floor hotel
and residential tower
currently under construc- :
tion in New York. Finish
Free forms were used to
achieve the architect’s ‘ , . v
design for smooth, L ‘
exposed concrete col- |

i

umns and.to pour mul-
tiple columns at once.
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Protective Packaging

WHEN SONOCO FINALIZED ITS ACQUISITION OF TEGRANT
HOLDING CORPORATION IN NOVEMBER 2011, it repre-
sented the largest transaction in Sonoco’s long history.

It also made Sonoco a North American leader in multi-
material protective packag-
ing. Sonoco acquired Tegrant,
a leading provider of highly
engineered protective,
temperature-assurance and
retail security packaging,
headquartered in DeKalb, i,
from Metalmark Capital for

PROTECTIVE PACKAGING

o
rge N;"’ﬁ}'fss'
$550 million. ol
With the acquisition, G
Sonoco takes over Tegrant's VIOTIVE LARCE | R e |
three strategic business units. Ehiol & e

i3 L
.
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In Arlington Heights, lli., Protexic Brands and ThermoSafe Brands share
a10,000-square-foot research development center where approximately
400 products are tested each year. Above, a Protexic Brands researcher
prepares to perform a compression test on an expanded polystyrene
(EPS) sample. At the Alloyd Brands printed products facility in Batavia, lll.,
left, press operators inspect a combo run sheet for printing quality and
color accuracy. These sheets, printed on the plant’s new KBA press
installed in mid 2014, are used to make blister cards for various brands
of retail security packaging.

Protexic Brands, the largest business unit, is North
America’s premier manufacturer of molded expanded
foam. It serves a number of industries, including high
technology, consumer electronics, automotive, appli-
ances and medical devices. ThermoSafe Brands is a
leading provider of temperature-assurance solutions,
primarily used in packaging temperature-sensitive
pharmaceuticals and food. Alloyd Brands is a leading
manufacturer and designer of high-visibility packaging,
printed products and blister packaging machines for
retail and medical markets.

The acquisition also means Sonoco adds nearly 2,000
employees and assumes ownership of more than 30
manufacturing, design and testing facilities in the United
States, Mexico, Puerto Rico and lreland.
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Protective Packaging

109
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ThermoSafe Brands is a leader in cold-chain solutions, providing
design, testing and thermal packaging solutions for the pharmaceu-
tical, biotech, medical and food industries. This new Sonoco busi-
ness meets its customers’ storage and transport needs with an
array of insulated shippers in expanded polystyrene, polyurethane,
vacuum-insulated panels and innovative technical solutions. The
business also produces PolarPack® refrigerant gel packs and bricks,
and U-tek® and ThermoPhase® phase-change materials.

ThermoSafe® Greenbox" is an award-winning sustainable pack-
age system that is designed for the safe transportation of time- and
temperature-sensitive products.



i

An operatorat Alloyd Brands’ DeKalb, Ili., plant pulls polyethylene
terephthalate (PET) blisters off the line for inspection. These
“see-through’” blisters; shaped using the plant’s thermoforming

equipment; are used by customers in retail security packaging.

The expanded polypropylene (EPP)
cover developed by Protexic Brands
for Solar Hot USA's solar water heater
is a lighter weight, easier to assemble
and better insulated alternative to
the plastic covers previously used.
Custom molded to fit snugly around
the unit, the foam cover features a
“snap fit” assembly that eliminates
the need for fasteners.




Packaging Services

SONOCO’S PACKAGING SERVICES SEGMENT IS MADE UP
OF TWO DISTINCT BUSINESSES: packaging fulfillment and
merchandizing displays. The packaging fulfiliment service
centers provide program management and materials
purchasing, as well as ware-
PACKAGING SERVICES house and distribution man-
l ' agement services. The mer-
$500  chandizing display business

designs, manufactures and
375 assembles temporary, semi-
permanent and permanent
250 point-of-purchase displays.
In 20114, this segment
125 accounted for approximately
10% of Sonoco’s consolidated
08 [10 net sales.

18 Sonoco 2011 Annual Report



One recent success story is the work Packaging
Services has done with the LEGO Group to introduce new
packages for LEGO’s Hero Factory and Ninjago toy lines.
In an example of Sonoco’s “total solutions” capabilities,
Packaging Services worked closely with
Sonoco’s Flexible Packaging business,
which designed and manufactured the
flexible stand-up pouches being used to
package the toys.

Fulfillment services are being handled
by Sonoco plants in Monterrey, Mexico,
and Strykow, Poland, shown above.

19



20

People, Culture and Values

SONOCO HAS ALWAYS BEEN COMMITTED TO THE SAFETY,
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF ITS EMPLOYEES. In October
2011, the Company opened a new 3,600-square-foot,
on-site employee health and wellness center at its
Hartsville, S.C., complex. Shortly following its opening,
the Sonoco Health Connection was called “one of the
most comprehensive, innovative on-site employee health
centers in the state,” by Columbia Regional Business
Report, and a “best in class model” by BlueCross
BlueShield of South Carolina.

The facility features a staff including a nurse practitio-
ner, a medical assistant and a health coach, as well as
an advising physician. Services are offered to employees
five days a week, and include management for chronic
health conditions, general lab testing, health coaching,
medication compliance and preventive wellness exams.

Sonoco 2011 Annual Report
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Education is a key area

of focus for Sonoco. In
Febmary?()i, the
_Company announced a

~ $5 million commitment

/e years to help

. fund PULSE (Partners
forUnparalieled Local
Scholastic Excellence),
afirstofits-kind public-

 private partnership in

 South Carolina. Right, |
_an assistant professor

 of Music/Voice at Coker
College in Hartsville,
CS;C;,,f'fWQrks with a stu-
. dént from Hartsville
 High School.

Additionatly, the Sonoco Health Connection can provide
employees with a limited 30-day supply of many com-
monly prescribed medications, making it even easier for
employees 1o be diagnosed and treated.

Sonoco is also committed to strengthening the com-
munities where it has a presence. One example of this
commitment occurred in April 2011 when Sonoco
Recycling announced a six-year recycling pilot project
with the City of Hartsville aimed at growing commercial
and residential recycling in the city.

The program calls for the implementation of single-
stream recycling service throughout the community,
with a special emphasis to increase efforts for local
businesses and educational institutions. Sonoco
Recycling is also assisting the city in its switch from
smali collection bins to 95-gallon roll carts.

21



Board of Directors

Harris E. DelLoach Jr., 67

Chairman of the Board since 2005, Chief
Executive Officer since 2000. Served on the
Board since 1998. Member of the Executive
Committee.

James L. Coker, 714

Retired. Formerly President, JLC Enterprises
(private investments), Stonington, Conn.,
1979-2007; Secretary of the Company 1969-
1995; President of Sonoco Limited, Canada
1972-1979. Served on the Board since 1969.
Member of the Employee and Public
Responsibility, and Financial Policy
Committees.
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Dr. Pamela L. Davies, 55

President of Queens University of Charlotte
(institution of higher learning), Charlotte, N.C.,
since 2002. Formerly Dean of the McColl
School of Business at Queens University

of Charlotte 2000-2002; Professor of
Management and Dean of the LeBow College
of Business at Drexel University 1997-2000.
Served on the Board since 2004. Member of
the Executive Compensation and Financial
Policy Committees.

John R. Haley, 50

Chief Executive Officer, Gosiger, Inc. (privately
owned distributor of computer-controlled
machine tools and factory automation
systems), Dayton, Ohio, since 2010. Formerly
served as a managing partner, Gosiger, Inc.
2001-2010 and Division Vice President
1992-2001. Served on the Board since July
2011. Member of the Employee and Public
Responsibility, and Financial Policy
Committees.

Edgar H. Lawton iil, 54

President and Treasurer, Hartsville Oil Mill
(vegetable oil processor), Darlington, S.C.,
since 2000. Formerly Vice President of
Hartsville Oil Mill 1991-2000. Served on the
Board since 2001. Member of the Audit, and
Employee and Public Responsibility
Committees.

John E. Linville, 66

Attorney in private practice in New York, N.Y.,
since 2004. Formerly Counsel with Manatt,
Phelps & Phillips, LLP 2003-2004, joining the
firm through its merger with his prior firm,
Kalkines, Arky, Zall & Bernstein, LLP 1990-
2003; General Counsel and then acting
President of the New York Health & Hospitals
Corporation prior to 1990. Served on the
Board since 2004. Member of the Audit, and
Employee and Public Responsibility
Committees.



James M. Micali, 64

Senior Advisor to, and limited partner of,
Azalea Fund Il of Azalea Capital LLC (private
equity firm) in Greenville, S.C., since 2008.
Formerly “Of Counsel” with Ogletree Deakins
LLC (law firm) in Greenville, S.C., 2008-2011;
Chairman and President, Michelin North
America, Inc. 1996-2008. Served on the
Board since 2003. Lead Director since
February 2012. Member of the Audit,
Executive, Executive Compensation, and
Corporate Governance and Nominating
Committees.

John H. Mullin lil, 70

Chairman, Ridgeway Farm LLC (privately held
timber and farming business), Brookneal, Va.,
since 1989. Formerly associated with Dillon,
Read & Co. Inc. 1969-1989, last serving as
Managing Director. Served on the Board since
2002. Member of the Corporate Governance
and Nominating, Executive, Executive
Compensation, and Financial Policy
Committees.

l.loyd W. Newton, 69

Retired. Formerly Executive Vice President of
Pratt & Whitney Military Engines business unit
(developer and manufacturer of engines for
military and commercial aircraft), E. Hartford,
Conn., (part of United Technologies
Corporation) 2000-2006; retired four-star
General, U.S. Air Force. Served on the Board
since 2008. Member of the Executive
Compensation and Financial Policy
Committees.

Marc D. Oken, 65

Managing partner of Falfurrias Capital
Partners (private equity firm), Charlotte, N.C.,
since 2006. Formerly held executive officer
positions at Bank of America Corporation
1989-2006, most recently as Chief Financial
Officer; partner at Price Waterhouse for

13 years; a fellow with the Securities and
ExchangeCommission1981-1983.Servedon
the Board since 2006. Member of the Audit,
Corporate Governance and Nominating, and
Executive Compensation Committees.

Philippe R. Rollier, 69

Retired. Formerly President and Chief
Executive Officer of Lafarge North America
(construction materials group), Herndon, Va.,
2001-2006; held numerous positions with
Lafarge Group before assuming the responsi-
bilities of President and Chief Executive Officer
in 2001. Served on the Board since 2007.
Member of the Audit, and Employee and Public
Responsibility Committees.

Thomas E. Whiddon, 59

Advisory Director of Berkshire Partners,

LLC (private equity firm), Boston, Mass.,
since 2005. Formerly Executive Vice
President, Logistics and Technology of Lowe’s
Companies, Inc. 2000-2003; Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Lowe’s
1996-2000. Servedonthe Board since 2001.
Member of the Corporate Governance and
Nominating, and Financial Policy Committees.
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Corporate Officers

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Harris E. DeLoach Jr., 67

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer since 2010. Previously Chairman of the
Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
2005-2010. Joined Sonoco in 1985.

M. Jack Sanders, 58

President and Chief Operating Officer since
2010. Previously Executive Vice President,
Consumer January-December 2010. Joined
Sonoco in 1987.

Vicki B. Arthur, 54

Vice President, Protective Packaging, N.A.
and Integration Leader since February 2012.
Previously Vice President, Global Corporate
Accounts 2008-2012. Joined Sonoco in
1984.

R. Howard Coker, 49

Vice President, Global Rigid Paper and
Closures since January 2011. Previously Vice
President and General Manager, Rigid Paper
and Closures, N.A. 2009-2011. Joined
Sonoco in 1985.

John M. Colyer Jr., 54

Vice President, Global Paper and Industrial
Converted Products since February 2012.
Previously Vice President, Global Industrial
Converting 2010-2012. Joined Sonoco in
1983.
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Rodger D. Fuller, 50

Vice President, Global Rigid Plastics and
Corporate Customers since October 201.1.
Previously Vice President, Global Rigid Paper
and Plastics, January-October 2011. Joined
Sonoco in 1985.

Ronald G. Leach, 54

Vice President, Global Protective Packaging
since November 201.1. Previously President
and Chief Executive Officer, Tegrant Holding
Corporation 2007-2011. Joined Sonoco in
November 2011.

Allan H. McLeland, 45

Vice President, Human Resources since
January 2011. Previously Staff Vice President,
Human Resources, Industrial 2010-2011.
Joined Sonoco in 1993.

Marty F. Pignone, 55

Vice President, Global Operating Excellence
since October 2011. Previously Vice President,
Global Manufacturing, Industrial 2008-2011.
Joined Sonoco in 1997.

Barry L. Saunders, 52

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
since' May 2011. Previously Vice President and
Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting
Officer 2008-2011. Joined Sonoco in 1989.

Robert C. Tiede, 53

Vice President Global Flexibles and Packaging
Services since 2009. Previously Division Vice
President and General Manager, Flexible
Packaging 2007-2009. Joined Sonoco in
2004.

Standing from left,
Howard Coker, Ron
Leach, Vicki Arthur,
Rodger Fuller, Barry
Saunders, John
Colyer, Rob Tiede,
Allan McLeland.
Seated, Jack Sanders,
Marty Pignone and
Harris Del.oach.

OTHER CORPORATE OFFICERS

Ritchie L. Bond, 55

Vice President, Treasurer and Corporate
Secretary since February 2011. Joined Sonoco
in 2005.

Bernard W. Campbell, 62
Vice President and Chief Information Officer
since 1996. Joined Sonoco in 1988.

James A. Harrell Ill, 50
Vice President, Industrial Carriers, N.A. since
2010. Joined Sonoco in 1985.

Kevin P. Mahoney, 56
Senior Vice President, Corporate Planning
since February 2011. Joined Sonoco in 1987.

Robert L. Puechl, 56
Vice President, Global Flexible Packaging since
January 2011. Joined Sonoco in 1986.

Roger P. Schrum, 56

Vice President, Investor Relations and
Corporate Affairs since 2009. Joined Sonoco
in 2005.

Marcy J. Thompson, 50
Vice President, Rigid Paper and Closures, N.A.
since March 201.1. Joined Sonoco in 2006.
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Sonoco Products Company

Forward-looking statements

Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that
are not historical in nature, are intended to be, and are hereby
identified as “forward-tooking statements” for purposes of the
safe harbor provided by Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The words “estimate,”
“project,” “intend,” “expect,” “believe,” “consider,” “plan,”
“strategy,” “opportunity,” “target,” “anticipate,” “objective,”
“goal,” “guidance,” “outlook,” “forecasts,” “future,” “will,”
“would,” or the negative thereof, and similar expressions iden-
tify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements
include, but are not limited to, statements regarding offsetting
high raw material costs; improved productivity and cost
containment; adequacy of income tax provisions; refinancing
of debt; realization of synergies resulting from-acquisitions;
adequacy of cash flows; anticipated amounts and uses of
cash flows; effects of acquisitions and dispositions; adequacy
of provisions for environmental liabilities; financial strategies
and the results expected from them; sales growth; continued
payments of dividends; stock repurchases; producing
improvements in earnings; financial results for future periods;
goodwill impairment charges; and creation of long-term value
for shareholders. Such forward-looking statements are based
on current expectations, estimates and projections about our
industry, management’s beliefs and certain assumptions
made by management. Such information includes, without limi-
tation, discussions as to guidance and other estimates,
expectations, beliefs, plans, strategies and objectives concern-
ing our future financial and operating performance. These
statements are not guarantees of future performance and are
subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that
are difficult to predict. Therefore, actual results may differ
materially from those expressed or forecasted in such forward-
looking statements. The risks and uncertainties include, with-
out limitation:

« availability and pricing of raw materials;

« success of new product development and introduction;

+ ability to maintain or increase productivity levels and contain
or reduce costs;

« ability to manage the mix of business 1o take advantage of
growing markets while reducing cyclical effects of some of the
Company’s existing businesses on operating results;

« international, national and local economic and market con-
ditions;

« availability of credit to us, our customers and/or suppliers in
needed amounts and/or on reasonable terms;

« fluctuations in obligations and earnings of pension and
postretirement benefit plans;

» pricing pressures, demand for products, and ability to main-
tain market share;

« continued strength of our paperboard-based tubes and cores
and composite can operations;

» anticipated results of restructuring activities;

« resolution of income tax contingencies;

« ability to successfully integrate newly acquired businesses
into the Company’s operations;

« ability to win new business and/or identify and successfully
close suitable acquisitions at the levels needed to meet
growth targets;

« rate of growth in foreign markets;,

« foreign currency, interest rate and commodity price risk, and
the effectiveness of related hedges;

» actions of government-agencies and changes in laws and
regulations affecting the Company,

» liability for and anticipated costs of environmental
remediation actions;

 accuracy of assumptions underlying projections related to
goodwill impairment testing, and accuracy of management’s
assessment of goodwill impairment;

« loss of consumer or investor confidence; and

« economic disruptions resulting from terrorist activities.

The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or
revise forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise. In light of these risks,
uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events
discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K might not occur.

References to our website address

References to our website address and domain names through-
out this Annual Report on Form 10-K are for informational
purposes only, or to fulfill specific disclosure requirements of
the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules or the New
York Stock Exchange Listing Standards. These references are
not intended to, and do not, incorporate the contents of our
websites by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.



Part |

Item 1. Business

(A) General development of business —

The Company is a South Carolina corporation founded in
Hartsville, South Carolina, in 1899 as the Southern Novelty
Company. The name was subsequently changed to Sonoco
Products Company (the “Company” or “Sonoco”). Sonoco is a
manufacturer of industrial and consumer packaging products
and a provider of packaging services, with 349 locations in 34
countries.

information about the Company’s acquisitions, dis-
positions, joint ventures and restructuring activities is provided
in Notes 3 and 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in ltem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(B) Financial information about segments —

The Company changed its business segments in the fourth
quarter of 2011 as the result of recent changes in internal
management reporting and in order to better reflect its mix of
business following the November 2011 acquisition of Tegrant
Holding Corporation. The Company now reports its financial
results in four reportable segments. These consist of the
same three reportable segments reported previously, each
with relatively minor changes, and the addition of a new Pro-
tective Packaging segment consisting of Tegrant and the
Company’s legacy protective packaging business. Financial
information about the Company’s segments for 2010 and
2009 has been restated to conform to the current pre-
sentation.

Additional information about the Company’s reportable
segments is provided in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

(C) Narrative description of business —

Products and Services — The following discussion outlines
the principal products produced and services provided by the
Company.

Consumer Packaging

The Consumer Packaging segment accounted for approx-
imately 44%, 44% and 46% of the Company's consolidated net
sales in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The operations
in this segment consist of 79 plants throughout the world. The
products, services and markets of the Consumer Packaging
segment are as follows:

Rigid Packaging - Paper

Products and Services
Round and shaped compo-
site paperboard cans,
single-wrap paperboard
packages, fiber cartridges

Markets

Food: Powdered beverages and
infant formulas, coffee, cereal,
snacks, nuts, cookies and
crackers, confectionery,
refrigerated dough, frozen con-
centrates, spices/seasonings,
nutritional supplements, pet
foods

Nonfood: Adhesives, caulks,
cleansers, household chemicals,
lawn and garden, automotive,
pet products
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Rigid Packaging - Blow Molded Plastics

Markets

Food: Noncarbonated, high-
barrier beverages/ready-to-drink
products, coffee, powdered
beverages, condiments

Products and Services
Monolayer and multilayer
bottles and jars

Nonfood: Health and beauty,
household chemicals, automo-
tive, adhesives and specialty

products
Rigid Packaging -
Thermoformed Plastic
Products and Services Markets

.Processed, frozen, chilled and
ready-to-eat foods, sauces and
dips, pet foods, snacks and
nuts, fresh-cut produce, des-
serts, food services

Monolayer, coated and
barrier and non-barrier
laminated tubs, cups,
spools, consumer and
institutional trays

Molded and Extruded
Plastics

Markets

Food service, medical, health-
care, textiles, wire and cable,
fiber optics, filtration, plumbing,

Products and Services
Product design, tool design
and fabrication; manu-
facturing in both injection

molding and extrusion automotive
technologies

Ends and Closures

Products and Services Markets

Powdered beverages and infant
formulas, coffee, cereal, snacks,
closures for composite, nuts, cookies and crackers,
metal and plastic contain- confectionery, refrigerated

ers dough, frozen concentrates,
spices/ seasonings, nutritional
supplements, pet foods, vegeta-
bles, fruit, seafood, poultry,
soup and pasta, dairy

Aluminum, steel and peel-
able membrane easy-open

Printed Flexible Packaging

Products and Services
Flexible packaging made
from thin-gauge, value-
added rotogravure, flexo-
graphic and combination
printed film, including per-
formance laminations,
rotogravure cylinder engrav-
ing, global brand artwork
management

Markets

Confectionery and gum, hard-
baked goods, coffee, processed
foods, beverages, snack foods,
pet foods, home and personal
care

Sonoco’s rigid packaging — paper-based products - is the
Company's second largest revenue-producing group of prod-
ucts and services, representing approximately 19%, 21% and
23% of consolidated net sales in 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively.



Paper and Industrial Converted Products

The Paper and Industrial Converted Products segment
accountied for approximately 42%, 42% and 39% of the
Company’s consolidated net sales in 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. This segment serves its markets through 189
plants on five continents. Sonoco’s paper operations provide
the primary raw material for the Company’s fiber-based pack-
aging. Sonoco uses approximately 50% of the paper it manu-
factures, and the remainder is sold to third parties. This
vertical integration strategy is supported by 21 paper mills with
31 paper machines and 50 recycling facilities throughout the
world. In 2011, Sonoco had the capacity to manufacture
approximately 1.8 million tons of recycled paperboard. The
products, services and markets of the Paper and Industrial
Converted Products segment are as follows:

Tubes and Cores

Markets

Construction, film, flowable
products, metal, paper mill,
shipping and storage, tape and
label, textiles, converters

Products and Services
Paperboard tubes, cores,
roll packaging, molded
plugs, pallets, pallet
components, concrete
forms, rotary die boards

~ packaging, co-packing and ful-

Paper
Markets
Converted paperboard products,

spiral winders, beverage
insulators

Products and Services
Recycled paperboard,
chipboard, tubeboard,
lightweight corestock,
boxboard, linerboard,
corrugating medium, spe-
cialty grades, recovered
paper

Sonoco Recycling

Products and Services Markets
Collection, processing and

recycling of old corrugated

containers, paper, plastic,

metal, glass, other

recyclable materials

Wire and Cable Reels

Products and Services
Steel, nailed wooden,
plywood, recycled and poly-
fiber reels

Markets
Wire and cable manufacturers

Packaging Services

The Packaging Services segment accounted for approx-
imately 10%, 11% and 12% of the Company’s consolidated net
sales in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The products,
services and markets of the Packaging Services segment are
as follows:

Service Centers

Markets

Personal care, baby care,
food, electronics, hosiery,
office supplies, toys

Products and Services
Packaging supply chain man-
agement, including custom
packing, fulfillment, primary
package filling, scalable serv-
ice centers

Point-of-Purchase (P-0-P)

Products and Services
Designing, manufacturing,
assembling, packing and dis-
tributing temporary, semi-
permanent and permanent P-O-
P displays, as well as contract

Markets

Automotive, beverages,
confectionery, electronics,
cosmetics, food, fragrances,
home and garden, liquor,
medical, office supply, over-
the-counter drugs, personal
care, sporting goods,
tobacco

fillment services

Paperboard Specialties

Markets

Hotels and resorts, food and
beverage, healthcare facili-
ties, catering services,
transportation, advertising

Products and Services
Custom-printed Stancap® glass
covers, Rixie™ coasters, other
paper amenities

Protective Packaging

The Protective Packaging segment accounted for approx-
imately 4%, 3% and 3% of the Company’s consolidated net
sales in 2011, 2010-and 2009, respectively. The products,
services and markets of the Protective Packaging segment are
as follows:

Protective Packaging

Sonoco’s tubes and cores products and services are the
Company’s largest revenue-producing group of products and
services, representing approximately 25%, 27% and 28% of
consolidated net sales in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Products and Services
Proprietary protective pack-
aging (Sonopost® technology,

Sonobase® carriers, Sonopop”®

systems), contract package
testing

Markets

Household appliances, heat-
ing and air conditioning,
office furishings, automo-
tive, fitness equipment,
lawn and garden, promo-
tional and palietized dis-
tribution




Protexic® Brands

Markets

High technology, consumer
electronics, automotive,
appliances and medical
devices

Products and Services
Fabricated foam, corrugated
paperboard, molded EPS,
molded EPP, antistatic fab-
ricated foam solutions, nesting
and stacking trays, molded
foam dunnage, totes and tote
inserts, energy-absorbing
components for automobiles,
flotation components,
insulation components

Thermosafe® Brands

Markets
Temperature-sensitive
pharmaceuticals and food

Products and Services
Insulated shippers, durable
transport chests, PolarPack®
gel packs, U-tek® phase
change materials, lab/pharma/
diagnostic specimen transport,
refrigerant materials, Ship-
Safe® edge and corner pro-
tection products, temperature
assurance solutions

Alloyd Brands®

Products and Services
High-visibility packaging,
printed products and blister
packaging machines

Markets
Retail and medical markets

Product Distribution — Each of the Company’s operating
units has its own sales staff, and maintains direct sales rela-
tionships with its customers. For those customers that buy
from more than one business unit, the Company often assigns
a single representative or team of specialists to handle that
customer’s needs. Some of the units have service staff at the
manufacturing facility that interacts directly with customers.
The Paper and Industrial Converted Products segment also has
a customer service center located in Hartsville, South Caro-
lina, which is the main contact point between its North Ameti-
can business units and its customers. Divisional sales
personnel also provide sales management, marketing and
product development assistance as needed. Typically, product
distribution is directly from the manufacturing plant to the
customer, but in some cases, product is warehoused in a
mutually advantageous location to be shipped to the customer
as needed.

Raw Materials — The principal raw materials used by the
Company are recovered paper, paperboard, steel, aluminum
and plastic resins. Raw materials are purchased from a hum-
ber of outside sources. The Company considers the supply and
availability of raw materials to be adequate to meet its needs.

Patents, Trademarks and Related Contracts — Most
inventions and product and process innovations are generated
by Sonoco’s development and engineering staff, and are
important to the Company’s internal growth. Patents have
been granted on many inventions created by Sonoco staff in
the United States and other countries. These patents are
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managed globally by a Sonoco intellectual capital management
team through the Company’s subsidiary, Sonoco Development,
Inc. (SDI). SDI globally manages patents, trade secrets, con-
fidentiality agreements and license agreements. Some patents
have been licensed to other manufacturers. Sonoco also
licenses a few patents from outside companies and uni-
versities. U.S. patents expire after 17 or 20 years, depending
on the patent issue date. New patents replace many of the
abandoned. or expired patents. A second intellectual capital
subsidiary of Sonoco, SPC Resources, Inc., globally manages
Sonoco’s trademarks, service marks, copyrights and Internet
domain names. Most of Sonoco’s products are marketed
worldwide under trademarks such as Sonoco®, Sonotube®,
Safe-top®, Sealed-safe®, Duro®, Durox®, Protexic®, Thermo-
safe®, and Alloyd Brands®. Sonoco’s registered Web domain
names such as www.sonoco.com and www.sonotube.com
provide information about Sonoco, its people and products.
Trademarks and domain names are licensed to outside
companies where appropriate.

Seasonality — The Company’s operations are not seasonal
to any significant degree, although the Consumer Packaging
and Packaging Services segments normally report slightly
higher sales and operating profits in the second half of the
year, when compared with the first half.

Working Capital Practices — The Company is not required
to carry any significant amounts of inventory to meet customer
requirements or to assure itself continuous allotment of
goods, nor does it provide extended'terms to customers.

Dependence on Customers — On an aggregate basis during
2011, the five largest customers in the Paper and Industrial
Converted Products segment, the Consumer Packaging seg-
ment and the Protective Packaging segment accounted for
approximately 7%, 32% and 39%, respectively, of each seg-
ment’s net sales. The dependence on a few customers in the
Packaging Services segment is more significant, as the five
largest customers in this segment accounted for approximately
61% of that segment’s sales.

Sales to the Company’s largest customer represented
approximately 9% of consolidated revenues in 2011. This
concentration of sales volume resulted in a corresponding
concentration of credit, representing approximately 8% of the
Company’s consolidated trade accounts receivable at
December 31, 2011. The Company's next largest customer
comprised approximately 5% of the Company’s consolidated
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Backlog — Most customer orders are manufactured with a
lead time of three weeks or less. Therefore, the amount of
backlog orders at December 31, 2011, was not material. The
Company expects all backlog orders at December 31, 2011, to
be shipped during 2012.

Competition — The Company sells its products in highly
competitive markets, which include paper, textile, film, food,
chemical, packaging, construction, and wire and cable.-All of
these markets are influenced by the overall rate of economic
activity and their behavior is principally driven by supply and
demand. Because we operate in highly competitive markets,
we regularly bid for new and continuing business. Losses and/
or awards of business from our largest customers, customer
changes to alternative forms of packaging, and the repricing of



business, can have a significant effect on our operating
results. The Company manufactures and sells many of its
products globally, The Company, having operated internation-
ally since 1923, considers its ability to serve its customers
worldwide in a timely and consistent manner a competitive
advantage. The Company also believes that its technological
leadership, reputation for quality, and vertical integration are
competitive advantages, Expansion of the Company’s product
lines and global presence is driven by the rapidly changing
needs of its major customers, who demand high-quality,
state-of-the-art, environmentally compatible packaging, wher-
ever they choose to do business. It is important to be a
low-cost producer in order to compete effectively. The Com-
pany is constantly focused on productivity improvements and
other cost-reduction initiatives utilizing the latest in technology.

Research and Development — Company-sponsored research
and development expenses totaled approximately $18.8 mil-
lion in 2011, $17.8 million in 2010 and $14.5 million in
2009. Customer-sponsored research and development
expenses were not material in any of these periods. Significant
projects in Sonoco’s Consumer Packaging segment include a
broad range of cost-reduction projects, high-value flexible
packaging enhancements, rigid plastic containers technology
and next-generation composite packaging. During 2011, the
Paper and Industrial Converted Products segment continued to
invest in efforts to design and develop new products for the
construction industry and for the film and tape industries. In
addition, efforts were focused on enhancing performance
characteristics of the Company’s tubes and cores in the tex-
tile, film and paper packaging areas, as well as on projects
aimed at enhancing productivity.

Compliance with Environmental Laws — information regard-
ing compliance with environmental laws is provided in

Executive Officers of the Registrant —

Name Age

ltem 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations under the caption “Risk
Management,” and in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Iltem 8 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

Number of Employees — Sonoco had approximately 19,600
employees worldwide as of December 31, 2011.

(D) Financial information about
geographic areas —

Financial information about geographic areas is provided in
Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in
Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and in the
information about market risk in ltem 7 — Management’s Dis-
cussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations under the caption “Risk Management” of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(E) Available information —

The Company electronically files with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) its annual reports on Form 10K,
its quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, its periodic reports on Form
8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pur-
suant to Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(the “1934 Act”), and proxy materials pursuant to Section 14
of the 1934 Act. The SEC maintains a site on the Internet,
www.sec.gov, that contains reports, proxy and information
statements, and other information regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC. Sonoco also makes its filings
available, free of charge, through its website,
WWW.S0N0co.com, as soon as reasonably practical after the
electronic filing of such material with the SEC.

Position and Business Experience for the Past Five Years

Executive Committee
Harris E. DeLoach, Jr. 67

Chairman of the Board & Chief Executive Officer since 2010. Previously

Chairman of the Board, President & Chief Executive Officer 2005-2010;
President & Chief Executive Officer 2000-2005; Chief Operating Officer
April-July 2000; Sr. Executive Vice President, Global Industrial Products/
Paper/Molded Plastics 1999-2000; Executive Vice President, High Den-
sity Film, Industrial Container, Fibre Partitions, Protective Packaging,
Sonaco Crellin and Baker Reels 1996-1999. Joined Sonoco in 1985.

M. Jack Sanders 58

President & Chief Operating Officer since 2010. Previously Executive

Vice President, Consumer January-December 2010; Executive Vice Presi-
dent, Industrial 2008-2010; Sr. Vice President, Global industrial Prod-
ucts 2006-2008; Vice President, Global Industrial Products January-
October 20086; Vice President, Industrial Products, N.A. 2001-2006;
Division Vice President & General Manager, Protective Packaging 1998
2001.. Joined Sonoco in 1987.

Jim C. Bowen 61

(Retiring effective March 2012.) Sr. Vice President, Primary Materials

Groups, N.A., since 2009. Previously Sr. Vice President, Sonoco
Recycling and Internal Supply 2008-2009; Sr. Vice President 2002-
2008; Sr. Vice President, Global Paper Operations 2000-2002. Joined
Sonoco in 1972.



Name

Age

Position and Business Experience for the Past Five Years

Vicki B. Arthur

R. Howard Coker

John M. Colyer, Jr

Rodger D. Fuller

Ronald G. Leach

Allan H. McLeland

Marty F. Pignone

Barry L. Saunders

Rob C. Tiede

Other Corporate Officers
Ritchie L. Bond

Bernard W. Campbell

James A. Harrell 1]
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54

49

51

50

54

45

55

52

53

55

62

50

Vice President, Protective Packaging, N.A. & Integration Leader since
February 2012. Previously Vice President Global Corporate Accounts
2008-2012; Division Vice President, Global Corporate Accounts 2007-
2008; Division Vice President & General Manager-Kraft 2005-2007;
Staff Vice President & Treasurer 2002-2005. Jjoined Sonoco in 1984.
Vice President, Global Rigid Paper & Closures since January 2011. Pre-
viously Vice President & General Manager, Rigid Paper & Closures, N.A.
2009-2011; Division Vice President & General Manager, Rigid Paper &
Closures 2008-2009; Division Vice President & General Manager,
Sonoco Phoenix 2006-2008; Director of Sales 2002-2005. Joined
Sonoco in 1985.

Vice President, Global Paper & Industrial Converted Products since Febru-
ary 2012. Previously Vice President, Global Industrial Converting 2010-
2012; Vice President North American Converted Products 2009-2010;
Vice President, Industrial Converted Products N.A. 2008-2009; Division
Vice President & General Manager, Industrial Products, N.A. 2006-2008;
Division Vice President, Manufacturing, Industrial Products 2004-2006.
Joined Sonoco in 1983.

Vice President, Global Rigid Plastics & Corporate Customers since
October 2011. Previously Vice President, Global Rigid Paper & Plastics
January-October 2011; Vice President, Global Rigid Paper & Closures
2008-2011; Vice President, Rigid Paper & Plastics N.A. 2005-2008;
Division Vice President & General Manager, Consumer Products N.A.
2000-2005. Joined Sonoco in 1985.

Vice President, Global Protective Packaging since November 2011. Pre-
viously President & Chief Executive Officer, Tegrant Corporation 2007-
2011; President, SCA Packaging N.A. 2003-2007; President and Chief
Executive Officer, Alloyd Company, Inc., 2002-2003; Vice President of
Operations, Alloyd Company, Inc. 2000-2002. Joined Sonoco in
November 2011. '

Vice President, Human Resources since January 2011. Previously Staff
Vice President, Human Resources, Industrial 2010-2011; Director of
Human Resources, Industrial 2009-2010; Director, Talent Management
2006-2009; Director, Organizational Development & Staffing 2002-
2006. Joined. Sonoco in 1993.

Vice President, Global Operating Excellence since October 2011. Pre-
viously Vice President, Global Manufacturing, Industrial 2008-2011; Vice
President, Paper N.A. 2005-2008. Joined Sonoco in 1997.

Vice President & Chief Financial Officer since May 2011. Previously Vice
President & Corporate Controller & Chief Accounting Officer 2008-2011;
Staff Vice President & Corporate Controller & Chief Accounting Officer
2002-2008. Joined Sonoco in 1989,

Vice President Global Flexibles & Packaging Services since 2009. Pre-
viously Division Vice President & General Manager, Flexible Packaging
2007-2009; President Sonoco-CorrFlex 2004-2007. Joined Sonoco in
2004.

Vice President, Treasurer & Corporate Secretary since February 2011.
Previously Staff Vice President, Treasurer & Corporate Secretary 2009-
2011; Staff Vice President & Treasurer 2005-2009. Joined Sonoco in
2005.

Vice President & Chief Information Officer since 1996. Previously Staff
Vice President, Information Services. Joined Sonoco in 1988.

Vice President, Industrial Carriers N.A. since 2010. Previously Vice Presi-
dent & General Manager, Industrial Converted Products 2009-201.0;
Division Vice President & General Manager, Paper, N.A. 2008-2009;
Staff Vice President, Global Operating Excellence, Industrial Products
2007-2008; Division Vice President, Industrial Products/ Paper, Europe
2002-2007. Joined Sonoco in 1985.



Name

Age

Position and Business Experience for the Past Five Years

Kevin P. Mahoney

Robert L. Puechl

Roger P. Schrum

Marcy J. Thompson

56

56

56

50

Sr. Vice President, Corporate Planning since February 2011. Previously
Vice President, Corporate Planning 2000-2011. Joined Sonoco in 1987.
Vice President, Global Flexible Packaging since January 2011. Previously
Vice President, Global Rigid Plastics 2010-2011; Division Vice President
& General Manager, Molded Plastics 2008-2010; Division Vice President
& General Manager, Molded Plastics & Caulk 2002-2008. Joined Sonoco
in 1986.

Vice President, Investor Relations & Corporate Affairs since 2009. Pre-
viously Staff Vice President, Investor Relations & Corporate Affairs 2005-
2009. Joined Sonoco in 2005.

Vice President, Rigid Paper and Closures, N.A. since March 2011. Pre-
viously Division Vice President and General Manager, Sonoco Recycling,
Inc. 2009-2011; Division Vice President and General Manager, Industrial
Products Division, N.A. 2008-2009; Division Vice President, Sales and
Marketing, Industrial, N.A. 2006-2009. Joined Sonoco in 2006.
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Iltem 1A. Risk factors

Risk factors relating to Sonoco’s business

The Company is subject to environmental regulations and
liabilities that could weaken operating results.

Federal, state, provincial, foreign and local environmental
requirements, including the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA), and par-
ticularly those relating to air and water quality, are significant
factors in the Company’s business and generally increase its
costs of operations. The Company may be found to have envi-
ronmental liability for the costs of remediating soil or water
that is, or was, contaminated by the Company or a third party
at various sites that are now, or were previously, owned, used
or operated by the Company. Legal proceedings may result in
the imposition of fines or penalties, as well as mandated
remediation programs that require substantial, and in some
instances, unplanned capital expenditures.

The Company has incurred in the past, and may incur in the
future, fines, penalties and legal costs relating to environ-
mental matters, and costs relating to the damage of natural
resources, lost property values and toxic tort claims. The |
Company has made expenditures to comply with environmental
regulations and expects to make additional expenditures in the
future. As of December 31, 2011, approximately $72.6 million
was reserved for environmental liabilities. Such reserves are
established when it is considered probable that the Company
has some liability. In part because nearly all of the Company’s
potential environmental liabilities are joint and severally
shared with others, the Company’s maximum potential liability
cannot be reasonably estimated. However, the Company’s
actual liability in such cases may be substantially higher than
the reserved amount. Additional charges could be incurred due
to changes in law, or the discovery of new information, and
those charges could have a material adverse effect on operat-
ing results.

Changes to laws and regulations dealing with environ-
mental issues, including climate change, are made or pro-
posed with some frequency and some of the proposals, if
adopted, might, directly or indirectly, result in a material reduc-
tion in the operating results of one or more of the Company’s
operating units.

General economic conditions in the United States may
change, having a negative impact on the Company’s
earnings.

Domestic sales accounted for approximately 63% of the
Company’s consolidated revenues in 2011. Even with the
Company’s diversification across various markets and custom-
ers, due to the nature of the Company’s products and serv-
ices, general economic downturns can have an adverse impact
on the Company’s reported results.

Conditions in foreign countries where the Company
operates may reduce earnings.

The Company has operations throughout North and South
America, Europe, Australia and Asia, with facilities in 34 coun-
tries. In 2011, approximately 37% of consolidated sales came
from operations and sales outside of the United States.
Accordingly, economic conditions, political situations, and
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changing laws and regulations in those countries may
adversely affect revenues and income.

Raw materials price increases may reduce net income.

Most of the raw materials the Company uses are pur-
chased from third parties. Principal examples are recovered
paper, steel, aluminum and resin. Prices for these raw materi-
als are subject to substantial fluctuations that are beyond the
Company’s control and can adversely affect profitability. Many
of the Company’s long-term contracts with customers permit
limited price adjustments to reflect increased raw material
costs. Although both contractual and non-contractual prices
may be increased in an effort to offset increases in raw
materials costs, such adjustments may not occur quickly
enough, or be sufficient to prevent a materially adverse effect
on net income and cash flow.

The Company may encounter difficulties integrating
acquisitions, restructuring operations or closing or
disposing of facilities.

The Company has made numerous acquisitions in recent
years, and may actively seek new acquisitions that manage-
ment believes will provide meaningful opportunities in the
markets it serves. Acquired businesses may not achieve the
expected levels of revenue, profit or productivity, or otherwise
perform as expected.

Acquisitions also involve special risks, including, without
limitation, the potential assumption of unanticipated liabilities
and contingencies, and difficulties in integrating acquired
businesses. While management believes that acquisitions will
improve the Company’s competitiveness and profitability, no
assurance can be given that acquisitions will be successful or
accretive to earnings. If actual performance in an acquisition
falls significantly short of the projected results, or the
assessment of the relevant facts and circumstances changes,
it is possible that a noncash impairment charge of any related
goodwill would be required.

The Company has closed higher-cost facilities, sold
non-core assets and otherwise restructured operations in an
effort to improve cost competitiveness and profitability. Some
of these activities are ongoing, and there is no guarantee that
any such activities will achieve the Company’s goals and not
divert the attention of management or disrupt the ordinary
operations of the Company. Moreover, production capacity, or
the actual amount of products produced, may be reduced as a
result of these activities.

Energy price increases may reduce net income.

Some of the Company’s manufacturing operations require
the use of substantial amounts of electricity and natural gas,
which may be subject to significant price increases as the
result of changes in overall supply and demand. Energy usage
is forecasted and monitored, and the Company may, from time
to time, use commodity futures or swaps in an attempt to
reduce the impact of energy price increases.. The Company
cannot guarantee success in these efforts, and could suffer
adverse effects to net income and cash flow shouid the
Company be unable to pass higher energy costs through to its
customers,



Changes in pension plan assets or liabilities may reduce
net income and shareholders’ equity.

The Company has an aggregate projected benefit obligation
for its defined benefit plans of approximately $1.6 billion. The
calculation of this obligation is sensitive to the underlying
discount rate assumption. Reductions in the long-term yield of

high-quality debt instruments would result in a higher projected

benefit obligation and higher net periodic benefit cost. A higher
projected benefit obligation may result in a change in funded
status that significantly reduces shareholders’ equity. The
Company has total assets of approximately $1.2 billion fund-
ing a portion of the projected benefit obligation. Decreases in
fair value of these assets may result in higher net periodic
benefit costs and changes in the funded status that sig-
nificantly reduce shareholders’ equity.

The Company may not be able to develop new products
acceptable to the market.

For many of the Company’s businesses, organic growth
depends meaningfully on new product development. If new
products acceptable to the Company’s customers are not
developed in a timely fashion, its growth potential may be
hindered.

The Company may not be able to locate suitable
acquisition candidates.

If significant acquisition candidates that meet the Compa-
ny's specific criteria are not located, the Company’s potential
for growth may be restricted.

The Company, or its customers, may not be able to
obtain necessary credit or, if so, on reasonable terms.

The Company operates a $350 million commercial paper
program, supported by a five-year bank credit facility of an
equal amount committed by a syndicate of eight banks until
October 2015. In the event that disruptions in global credit
markets were to become so severe that the Company was
unable to issue commercial paper, it has the contractual right
to draw funds directly on the underlying bank credit facility. The
Company believes that the lenders have the ability to meet
their obligations under the facility. However, if these obliga-
tions are not met, the Company may be forced to seek more
costly or cumbersome forms of credit. Should such credit be
unavailable for an extended time, it would significantly affect
the Company’s ability to operate its business and execute its
plans. In addition, the Company’s customers may experience
liquidity problems as a result of the current economic environ-
ment that could negatively affect the Company’s ability to col-
lect receivables and maintain business relationships.

Foreign exchange rate fluctuations may reduce the
Company’s earnings.

As a result of operating globally, the Company is exposed
to changes in foreign exchange rates. Generally, each of the
Company’s foreign operations both produces and sells in its
respective local currency, limiting the Company’s exposure to
foreign currency transactions. The Company monitors its
exposures and, from time to time, may use forward currency

contracts to hedge certain forecasted currency transactions or
foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities. In addition
to potential transaction losses, the Company’s reported
results of operations and financial position could be negatively
affected by exchange rates when the activities and balances of
its foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars for finan-
cial reporting purposes.

ltem 1B. Unresolved staff comments

There are no unresolved written comments from the SEC
staff regarding the Company’s periodic.or current 1934 Act
reports.

Item 2. Properties

The Company’s corporate offices are owned and operated
in Hartsville, South Carolina. There are 105 owned and 84
leased facilities used by operations in the Paper and Industrial
Converted Products segment, 33 owned and 46 leased facili-
ties used by operations in the Consumer Packaging segment,
four owned and 18 leased facilities used by operations in the
Packaging Services segment, and 12 owned and 32 leased
facilities used by the Protective Packaging segment. Europe,
the most significant foreign geographic region in which the
Company operates, has 52 manufacturing locations.

Iltem 3. Legal proceedings

The Company has been named as a potentially responsible
party (PRP) at several environmentally contaminated sites not
owned by the Company. All of the sites are also the responsi-
bility of other parties. The Company's liability, if any, is shared
with such other parties, but the Company’s share has not
been finally determined in most cases. In some cases, the
Company has cost-sharing agreements with other PRPs with
respect to a particular site. Such agreements relate to the
sharing of legal defense costs or cleanup costs, or-both. The
Company has assumed, for purposes of estimating amounts
to be accrued, that the other parties to such cost-sharing
agreements will perform as agreed. It appears that final reso-
lution of some of the sites is years away, and actual costs to
be incurred for these environmental matters in future periods
is likely to vary from current estimates because of the inherent
uncertainties in evaluating environmental exposures. Accord-
ingly, the ultimate cost to the Company with respect to such
sites cannot be determined. As of December 31, 2011 and
2010, the Company had accrued $72.6 million and $62.0 mil-
lion, respectively, related to-environmental contingencies. The
Company periodically re-evaluates the assumptions used in
determining the appropriate reserves for environmental mat-
ters as additional information becomes available and, when
warranted, makes appropriate adjustments.

Fox River

The Company believes the environmental issues regarding
the Fox River, which are discussed below in some detail, cur-
rently represent the Company's greatest loss exposure for
alleged environmental liability. The Company also believes that
all of its exposure to such liability for the Fox River is con-
tained within its wholly owned subsidiary, U.S. Paper Mills
Corp. (U.S. Mills). Accordingly, regardless of the amount of
liability that U.S. Mills may ultimately bear, the Company
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believes its maximum additional pretax loss for Fox River
issues will essentially be limited to the equity position of U.S.
Mills, which was approximately $87 million at December 31,
2011.

The extent of U.S. Mills’ potential liability remains subject
to many uncertainties. The Company periodically re-evaluates
U.S. Mills’ potential liability and the appropriate reserves
based on information available to it. U.S. Mills’ eventual
liability, which may be paid out over several years, will depend
on a number of factors. In general, the most significant factors
include: (1) the total remediation costs for the sites for which
U.S. Mills is found to have liability and the share of such costs
U.S. Mills is required to bear; (2) the total natural resource
damages for such sites and the share of such costs U.S. Mills
is required to bear; and (3) U.S. Mills’ costs to defend itself in
this matter.

U.S. Mills was officially notified by governmental entities in
2003 that it, together with a number of other companies, had
been identified as a PRP for environmental claims under the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and
Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLA) and other statutes, arising out
of the presence of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in sedi-
ments in the lower Fox River and in the bay of Green Bay in
Wisconsin. U.S. Mills was named as a PRP because scrap
paper purchased by U.S. Mills as a raw material for its paper
making processes more than 30 years ago allegedly included
carbonless copy paper that contained PCBs, some of which
were included in wastewater from U.S. Mills’ manufacturing
processes that was discharged into the Fox River. The Com-
pany acquired the stock of U.S. Mills in 2001, and the alleged
contamination predates the acquisition. Although Sonoco was
also notified that it was a PRP, its only involvement is as a
subsequent shareholder of U.S. Mills. As such, the Company
has responded that it has no separate responsibility apart
from U.S. Mills.

The governmental entities making such claims against U.S.
Mills and the other PRPs have been coordinating their actions,
including the assertion of claims against the PRPs. Addition-
ally, certain claimants have commenced a related natural
resource damage lawsuit against U.S. Mills and the other
PRPs.

A review of the circumstances leading to U.S. Mills’ being
named a PRP and the current status of the remediation effort
and related lawsuits is set forth below.

In July 2003, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
(EPA) and Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR)
issued their final cleanup plan (known as a Record of Deci-
sion, or ROD) for a portion of the Fox River. The ROD
addressed the lower part of the Fox River and portions of
Green Bay, where the EPA and WDNR (the Governments) esti-
mate the bulk of the sediments that need to be remediated
are located. In two portions of the lower part of the Fox River
covered by the ROD-Operable Units (OUs) 3 and 4-the
Governments selected large-scale dredging as the cleanup
approach. OU 3 is the section of the Fox River running down-
stream from Little Rapids to the De Pere dam, and OU 4 runs
from the De Pere dam downstream to the mouth of the Fox
River at Green Bay. U.S. Mills’ De Pere plant is just below the
De Pere dam and, prior to 1972, discharged wastewater into
the river downstream of the dam in OU 4. In the ROD, the
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Governments estimated that approximately 6.5 million cubic
yards of sediment would be removed from OUs 3 and 4 at an
estimated cost of approximately $284 million ($26.5 million
for OU 3 and $257.5 million for OU 4). The Governments also
identified “capping” the riverbed with appropriate materials as
a “contingent remedy” to be evaluated during the remedial
design process. For Green Bay (OU 5), the Governments
selected monitored natural attenuation as the cleanup
approach at an estimated cost of approximately $40 million.
The Governments also indicated that some limited dredging
near the mouth of the river might be required, which would
ultimately be determined during the design stage of the proj-
ect. Earlier, in January 2003, the Governments had issued
their ROD for the upper portions of the Fox River-OUs 1 and 2.
Combining the then current cost estimates from both RODs, it
appeared that the Governments expected the selected rem-
edies for all five OUs to cost approximately $400 million,
exclusive of contingencies. In March 2004, NCR Corporation
(NCR) and Georgia-Pacific Corporation (G-P) entered into an
Administrative Order on Consent (AOC) with the Governments
to perform engineering design work for the cleanup of

OUs 2 - 5.

In the course of the ongoing design work, additional sam-
pling and data analysis identified elevated levels of PCBs in
certain areas of OU 4 near the U.S. Mills’ De Pere plant (the
OU 4 hotspot). In November 2005, the Governments notified
U.S. Mills and NCR that they would be required to design and
undertake a removal action that would involve dredging, dew-
atering and disposing of the PCB-contaminated sediments
from the OU 4 hotspot. In furtherance of this notiﬁcation{ on
April 12, 20086, the United States and the State of Wisconsin
sued NCR and U.S. Mills in the U.S. District Court for the
Eastern District of Wisconsin in Milwaukee (Civil Action
No. 06-C-0484). NCR and U.S. Mills agreed to a Consent
Decree with the United States and the State of Wisconsin
pursuant to which the site is to be cleaned up on an expedited
basis and NCR and U.S. Mills started removing contaminated
sediment in May 2007. Although the defendants specifically
did not admit liability for the allegations of the complaint, they
are bound by the terms of the Consent Decree.

NCR and U.S. Mills reached agreement between them-
selves that each would fund 50% of the costs of remediation
of the OU 4 hotspot, which from 2006, when project
implementation began, through the end of 2011 has totalled
slightly more than $25 million. U.S. Mills' environmental
reserve at December 31, 2011, includes $3.2 million for its
share of the estimated remaining costs under the funding
agreement for remediation of the OU 4 hotspot. The actual
costs associated with cleanup of this particular site are
dependent upon many factors, and it is reasonably possible
that remediation costs could be higher than the current esti-
mate of project costs. Under the terms of the agreement, the
parties reserved their rights to make claims against each oth-
er, as well as third parties, to reallocate the remediation costs
of the Site. Accordingly, the Company’s ultimate share of the
liability for remediation of the Site could be greater or less
than 50% of the total cost.

At the time of the Company’s acquisition of U.S. Mills in
2001, U.S. Mills and the Company estimated U.S. Milis’
liability for the Fox River cleanup at a nominal amount based



on government reports and conversations with the Govern-
ments about the anticipated limited extent of U.S. Mills’
responsibility, the belief, based on U.S. Milis’ prior assertions,
that no significant amount of PCB-contaminated raw materials
had been used at the U.S. Mills plants, and the belief that any
PCB contamination in the Fox River, other than a de minimis
amount, was not caused by U.S. Mills. It appeared at that time
that U.S. Mills and the Governments would be able to resolve
the matter and dismiss U.S. Mills as a PRP for a nominal
payment. Accordingly, no significant reserve was established
at the time. However, the Governments subsequently declined
to enter into such a settlement. Nonetheless, U.S. Mills con-
tinued to believe that its liability exposure was very small
based on its continuing beliefs that no significant amount of
PCB-contaminated raw materials had been used at the U.S.
Mills plants and that any significant amount of PCB con-
tamination in the section of the Fox River located adjacent to
its plant was not caused by U.S. Mills.

In May/June 2005, U.S. Mills first learned of elevated lev-
els of PCBs in the Fox River adjacent to its De Pere plant (the
OU 4 hotspot). U.S. Mills, while still not believing its De Pere
plant was the source of this contamination, entered into the
consent decree to remediate the OU 4 hotspot as discussed
above.

In June 2006, U.S. Mills first received the results of tests it
initiated on the U.S. Mills property that suggested that the De
Pere plant may have processed as part of its furnish more
than the de minimis amounts of PCB-contaminated paper
reflected in the records available to the Company. This
information seemed to contradict the Company’s previous
understanding of the history of the De Pere plant. Based on
these most recent findings, it is possible that U.S. Mills might
be responsible for a larger portion of the remediation than
previously anticipated. The total estimated cost set forth in the
ROD for remediation of OU 4 was approximately $257.5 mil-
lion and the estimated cost of monitoring OU 5 was approx-
imately $40 million (a 2007 amendment to the ROD estimated
the cost of OUs 2 — 5 at $390 miilion). There are two alleged
PRPs located in OU 4 (of which the smaller is the plant owned
by U.S. Mills). It is possible that U.S. Mills and the owners of
the other plant, together with NCR, the original generator of
the carbonless copy paper, could be required to bear a
majority of the remediation costs of OU 4, and share with
other PRPs the cost of monitoring OU 5. U.S. Mills has dis-
cussed possible remediation scenarios with other PRPs who
have indicated that they expect U.S. Mills to bear an
unspecified but meaningful share of the costs of OU 4 and
0Ou 5.

In February 2007, the EPA and WDNR issued a general
notice of potential liability under CERCLA and a request to par-
ticipate in remedial action implementation negotiations relat-
ing to OUs 2 — 5 to eight PRPs, including U.S. Mills. The notice
requested that the PRPs indicate their willingness to partic-
ipate in negotiations concerning performance of the remaining
elements of the remedial action for OUs 2 — 5 and the reso-
lution of the government entities’ claims for unreimbursed
costs and natural resource damages. On April 9, 2007, U.S.
Mills, in conjunction with other PRPs, presented to the EPA
and the WDNR a proposed schedule to mediate the allocation
issues among eight PRPs, including U.S. Mills. Non-binding

mediation began in May 2007 and continued as bilateral/
multilateral negotiations although no agreement among the
parties occurred.

On November 13, 2007, the EPA issued a unilateral Admin-
istrative Order for Remedial Action pursuant to Section 106 of
CERCLA. The order requires U.S. Mills and the seven other
respondents jointly to take various actions to cleanup OUs 2 -
5. The order covers planning and design work as well as dredg-
ing and disposing of contaminated sediments and the capping
of dredged and less contaminated areas of the river bottom.
The order also provides for a $32.5 thousand per day penalty
for failure by a respondent to comply with its terms as well as
exposing a non-complying respondent to potential treble
damages. Even though U.S. Mills has reserved its rights to
contest liability for any portion of the work, it is cooperating
with the other respondents to comply with the order, although
its financial contribution will likely be determined by the law-
suit commenced in June 2008 and discussed below.

On June 12, 2008, NCR and Appleton Papers, Inc. (APl), as
plaintiffs, commenced suit in the United States District Court
for the Eastern District of Wisconsin (No. 08-CV-0016-WCG)
against U.S. Mills, as one of a number of defendants, seeking
a declaratory judgment allocating among all the parties the
costs and damages associated with the pollution and cleanup
of the Lower Fox River. The suit also seeks damages from the
defendants for amounts already spent by the plaintiffs, includ-
ing natural resource damages, and future amounts to be spent
by all parties with regard to the pollution and cleanup of the
Lower Fox River. The court limited discovery to information
regarding when each party knew, or should have known, that
recycling NCR brand carbonless paper would resuit in the dis-
charge of PCBs to a water body and what action, if any, each
party took to avoid the risk of further contamination. On
December 16, 2009, the court issued an order which con-
cluded that, under the equities of the case, NCR and AP| were
not entitled to any contribution from U.S. Mills and other
defendants, thereby granting the defendants’ motions for
summary judgment and denying the plaintiffs’ motions for
summary judgment. Although an order has been issued by the
court, no appealable final judgment has been entered yet;
nevertheless, NCR has reported that it intends to appeal the
ruling, presumably after entry of the final judgment. Sub-
sequent to the December 2009 ruling, U.S. Mills and other
defendants made motions to have the court rule that, on the
same basis as the December 2009 ruling, NCR would be
responsible for any costs that U.S. Mills and the other defend-
ants might incur, past, present and future. These motions
have been granted by the court, but are also subject to being
appealed. U.S. Mills plans to continue to defend the suit vigo-
rously.

On October 14, 2010, the United States and the State of
Wisconsin filed suit against NCR, API, U.S. Mills and nine
other defendants in the United States District Court for the
Eastern District of Wisconsin (No. 10-CV-00910-WCG) pur-
suant to Sections 106 and 107 of CERCLA. The plaintiffs seek
to recover unreimbursed costs incurred for activities under-
taken in response to the release and threatened release of
hazardous substances from facilities at or near the Lower Fox
River and Green Bay as well as damages for injury to, loss of,
and destruction of natural resources resuiting from such
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releases. The plaintiffs also seek a ruling that the defendants
are liable for future response costs of the plaintiffs and requir-
ing the defendants to comply with the unilateral Administrative
Order for Remedial Action discussed above. The Company
does not believe that the remedies sought in the suit materi-
ally expand the Company’s potential liability beyond what has
been previously disclosed in this report or in the Company’s
prior filings. U.S. Mills plans to defend the suit vigorously.

As of December 31, 2011, U.S. Milis’ environmental
reserve for potential liabilities associated with the remediation
of OUs 2 - 5 (not including amounts accrued for remediation
of the OU 4 hotspot) totaled $53.6 million. Because of the
continuing uncertainties in the estimated costs of remediation
and continuing uncertainties surrounding U.S. Mills’ allocable
share, including a potentially favorable resolution, it is impos-
sible to state with any reasonable degree of certainty that any
estimate is a better estimate than the amount recorded.
However, because the discharges of hazardous materials into
the environment occurred before the Company acquired U.S.
Mills, and U.S. Mills has been operated as a separate sub-
sidiary of the Company, the Company does not believe that it
bears financial responsibility for these legacy environmental
liabilities of U.S. Mills. Therefore, the Company continues to
believe that the maximum additional pretax exposure to its
consolidated financial position is limited to the equity position
of U.S. Mills, which was approximately $87 million at
December 31, 2011.

The actual costs associated with cleanup of the Fox River
site are dependent upon many factors, and it is reasonably
possible that total remediation costs could be higher than the
current estimates of project costs, which range from $390
million to more than $600 million for OUs 2 — 5. Some, or all,
of any costs incurred by U.S. Mills may be subject to recoup-
ment from other parties, but no amounts have been recog-
nized in the financial statements of the Company for any such
potential recoveries. Given the ongoing remedial design work
being conducted, and the initial stages of remediation, it is
possible there could be some additional changes to some
elements of the reserve within the next year or thereafter,
although that is. difficuit to predict.

Similarly, U.S. Mills does not have a basis for estimating
the possible cost of any natural resource damage claims
against it. Accordingly, reserves have not been provided for
this potential liability. However, for the entire river remediation
project, the lowest estimate in the Governments’ 2000 report
on natural resource damages was $176 million. Nevertheless,
the court has ruled, subject to appeal, that natural resource
damages are recoverable by U.S. Mills and other PRPs from
NCR.
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In addition to its potential liability for OUs 4 and 5, U.S.
Mills may have a contingent liability to Menasha Corporation to
indemnify it for any amount for which it may be held liable in
excess of insurance coverage for any environmental liabilities
of a plant on OU 1 that U.S. Mills purchased from:Menasha.
Due to the uncertainty of Menasha’s liability and the extent of
the insurance coverage as well as any defenses that may be
asserted to any such claim, U.S. Mills has not established a
reserve for this contingency.

Other legal matters

On July 7, 2008, the Company was served with a complaint
filed in the United States District Court for South Carolina by
the City of Ann Arbor Employees’ Retirement System,
individually and on behalf of others similarly situated. The suit
is a class action on behalf of those who purchased the
Company’s common stock between February 7, 2007 and
September 18, 2007, except officers and directors of the
Company. The complaint, as amended, alleges that the Com-
pany issued press releases and made public statements dur-
ing the class period that were materially false and misleading.
The complaint also names certain Company officers as
defendants and seeks an unspecified amount of damages
plus interest and attorneys’ fees. The Company believes that
the claims are without merit and intends to vigorously defend
itself against the suit.

Additional information regarding legal proceedings is pro-
vided in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ltem 4. Mine safety disclosures
Not applicable.



Part Il

Item 5. Market for registrant’s common equity, High Low __Cash Dividends

related stockholder matters and issuer purchases 2011

of equity securities First Quarter $36.89 $33.96 $.28
The Company’s common stock is traded on the New York Second Quarter $36.95 $32.71 $.29

Stock Exchange under the stock symbol “SON.” As of Third Quarter $36.05 $27.62 $.29

December 31, 2011, there were approximately 50,000 share- Fourth Quarter $33.64 $26.10 $.29

holder accounts. information required by !tem 201(d) of Regu-

lation S-K can be found in Part lll, ltem 12 of this Annual 2010

Report on Form 10-K. The following table indicates the high First Quarter $31.86 $26.17 $.27

and low sales prices of the Company’s common stock for each ~ Second Quarter $35.87 $28.83 $.28

full quarterly period within the last two years as reported on Third Quarter $34.00 $29.66 $.28

the New York Stock Exchange, as well as cash dividends Fourth Quarter $35.04 $31.75 $.28

declared per common share:

The Company made the following purchases of its securities during the fourth quarter of 2011:
Issuer purchases of equity securities

(c) Total Number of (d) Maximum
Shares Purchased: Number of Shares
as Part of Publicly that May Yet be
(a) Total Number of ~ (b) Average Price Announced Plans or - Purchased under the

Period Shares Purchased! Paid per Share Programs? Plans or Programs?
10/03/11-11/06/11 14,912 $31.90 — 5,000,000
11/07/11 - 12/04/11 — — — 5,000,000
12/05/11 ~12/31/11 16,141 $32.37 — 5,000,000
Total 31,053 $32.14 — 5,000,000

1 A total of 31,053 common shares were repurchased in the fourth quarter of 2011 related to shares withheld to satisfy
employee tax withholding obligations in association with the exercise of certain share-based compensation awards. These
shares were not repurchased as part of a publicly announced plan or program.

2 On April 19, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 5,000,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock. This authorization rescinded all previous existing authorizations and does not have a specific expiration date.
From December 2010 through March 2011, a total of 2,000,000 shares were repurchased under this program. On April 20,
2011, the Company'’s Board of Directors reinstated 2,000,000 shares to its authorization, returning the total number of
shares available for future repurchase to 5,000,000 as of that date. No shares were repurchased under this authorization
subsequent to this reinstatement; accordingly, a total of 5,000,000 shares remained available for repurchase at -

December 31, 2011.

The Company did not make any unregistered sales of its securities during 2011.
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Iltem 6. Selected financial data

The following table sets forth the Company’s selected consolidated financial information for the past five years. The
information presented below should be read together with Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations included in ltem 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the Company’s historical Consolidated Financial
Statements and the Notes thereto included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected statement of income data
and balance sheet data are derived from the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Years ended December 31

(Dollars and shares in thousands except per

share data) 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Operating Results
Net sales $4,498,932 $4,124,121 $3,597,331 $4,122,385 $4,039,992
Cost of sales and operating expenses 4,139,626 3,761,945 3,317,744 3,772,751 3,695,917
Restructuring/Asset impairment charges 36,826 23,999 26,801 100,061 36,191
Interest expense 41,832 37,413 40,992 53,401 61,440
Interest income (3,758) (2,307) (2,427) (6,204) (9,182)
Loss from the early extinguishment of debt — 48,617 — — —
Income before income taxes 284,406 254,454 214,221 202,376 255,626
Provision for income taxes 78,423 64,485 ~ 66,818 54,797 55,186
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of tax (12,061) (11,505) (7,742) - (9,679) (11,586)
Net income 218,044 201,474 155,145 157,258 212,026
Net (income)/loss attributable to

noncontrolling interests (527) (421) (3,663) 7,350 2,130
Net income attributable to Sonoco $ 217,517 $ 201,053 $ 151,482 $ 164,608 $ 214,156

Per common share
Net income attributable to Sonoco:

Basic $ 215 $ 1.98 $ 150 $ 1.64 $ 2.13
Diluted 243 1.96 1.50 1.63 2.10
Cash dividends 1.15 1.11 1.08 1.07 1.02

Weighted average common shares
outstanding;:

Basic 101,071 101,599 100,780 100,321 100,632
Diluted 102,173 102,543 104,029 100,986 101,875
Actual common shares outstanding at
December 31 100,211 100,510 100,149 99,732 99,431
Financial Position
Net working capital $ 476,308 $ 376,867 $ 190,934 $ 231,794 $ 269,598
Property, plant and equipment, net 1,020,291 944,136 926,829 973,442 1,105,342
Total assets 3,986,170 3,281,014 3,062,580 3,086,466 3,340,243
Long-term debt 1,232,966 603,941 462,743 656,847 804,339
Total debt 1,286,632 620,890 580,796 689,825 849,538
Total equity 1,425,408 1,507,693 1,380,630 1,174,518 1,463,486
Current ratio 1.6 1.5 1.2 1.3 1.4
Total debt to total capitalt 47.4% 29.2% 29.6% 37.0% 36.7%

1 Calculated as total debt divided by the sum of total debt and total equity.
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[tem 7. Management’s discussion and analysis of
financial condition and resuits of operations
General overview

Sonoco is a leading manufacturer of consumer and
industrial packaging products and provider of packaging serv-
ices with 349 locations in 34 countries. The Company’s oper-
ations are organized, managed and reported in four segments,
Consumer Packaging, Paper and Industrial Converted Prod-
ucts, Protective Packaging and Packaging Services. Generally,
the Company serves two broad end-use markets, consumer
and industrial, which, period to period, can exhibit different
economic characteristics from each other. Geographically,
approximately 63% of sales are generated in the United
States, 17% in Europe, 9% in Canada and 11% in other
regions.

The Company is a market-share leader in many of its prod-
uct lines, particularly in tubes, cores and composite contain-
ers. Competition in most of the Company’s businesses is
intense. Demand for the Company’s products and services is
primarily driven by the overall level of consumer consumption
of non-durable goods; however, certain product and service
groups are tied more directly to durable goods, such as appli-
ances, and construction. The businesses that supply and/or
service consumer product companies tend to be, on a relative
basis, more recession resistant than those that service
industrial markets.

Strategy and opportunities

Financially, the Company’s objective is to deliver average
annual double-digit total returns to shareholders over time. To
meet that target, the Company focuses on three major areas:
driving profitable sales growth, improving margins and leverag-
ing the Company’s strong cash flow and financial position.
Operationally, the Company’s goal is to be the low-cost global
leader in customer-preferred packaging solutions within tar-
geted customer market segments.

The Company’s financial goals are, over the next three to
four years, to grow sales to $5.5 billion to $6 billion, improve
margins on earnings before interest and taxes to 10% to
10.5% and increase return on net assets employed to 12.5%.
The Company’s expected growth drivers continue to be organic
sales growth, geographic expansion and strategic acquisitions.
Sales of existing products and services are targeted to grow by
about $300 million during this period and new product sales
are targeted to add an additional $350 million to revenues.
Future acquisitions are targeted to add up to $500 million
more in annual sales. During 2011, sales volume grew about
1%; however, the Company added an expected $465 million in
annualized revenue through acquisitions primarily related to
Tegrant.

The Company’s plan to improve margins focuses on leverag-
ing fixed costs, improving productivity, maintaining a positive
price/cost relationship (raising selling price at least enough to
recover inflation in material, energy and freight costs) and
improving underperforming operations.

Use of Non-GAAP financial measures

To assess and communicate the financial performance of
the Company, Sonoco management uses, both internally and
externally, certain financial performance measures that are not

in conformance with generally accepted accounting principles
(“non-GAAP” financial measures). These non-GAAP financial
measures reflect the Company’s GAAP operating resuits
adjusted to remove restructuring, asset impairment,
acquisition-related costs, debt tender charges and other items,
if any, the exclusion of which management believes improves
the period-to-period comparability and analysis of the under-
lying financial performance of the business. The adjusted
non-GAAP results are identified using the term “base,” for
example, “base earnings.”

The Company’s base financial performance measures are
not in accordance with, nor an alternative for, measures con-
forming to generally accepted accounting principles and may
be different from non-GAAP measures used by other compa-
nies. The Company uses the non-GAAP “base” performance
measures presented herein for internal planning and forecast-
ing purposes, to evaluate its ongoing operations, and to eval-
uate the ultimate performance of management and each
business unit against plan/forecast.

Reconciliations of GAAP to base results are presented on
pages 19 and 20 in conjunction with management's dis-
cussion and analysis of the Company’s results of operations.
Whenever reviewing a non-GAAP financial measure, readers
are encouraged to review the related reconciliation fully to
understand how it differs from the related GAAP measure.

2011 overview

2011 proved to be a challenging year. In addition to an
unexpected decline in industrial-related volumes in the fourth
quarter, the Company faced escalating raw material, energy,
freight and other costs during the year and productivity was
well below its historical standards. Despite these significant
headwinds, Sonoco achieved record sales while achieving the
second highést base earnings before interest and taxes and
third highest base earnings in Company history. Furthermore,
the Company completed the acquisition of Tegrant Holding
Corp. (“Tegrant”), which provides the Company with a new
growth platform and establishes it as a leading custom-
engineered, multi-material protective packaging provider in
North America.

For 2011, net income attributable to Sonoco was $217.5
million, compared with $201.1 million for 2010. Earnings in
2011 were negatively impacted by $16.1 million, after tax, due
to the following (all amounts are after tax): restructuring
expenses and impairment charges of $25.5 million,
acquisition-related costs of $6.6 million, and acquisition
inventory step-up costs of $2.0 million, offset by a $3.1 million
gain on insurance proceeds in excess of recognized fire dam-
aged property losses and a gain of $15.0 million due to reduc-
tion in tax expense resulting from valuation allowance
adjustments on deferred tax assets. Earnings in 2010 were
negatively impacted by a $31.6 million after-tax charge related
to the Company's debt tender completed in November. Under
the tender, the Company paid $293.3 million to retire bonds
with a total face value of $244.1 million. Aiso impacting 2010
results were a total of $16.9 million in after-tax asset impair-
ment, restructuring and acquisition charges, partially offset by
tax benefits of $5.5 million related to the clarification of a
20009 tax law change in Mexico and a $4.7 million tax benefit
related to the release of a valuation allowance.
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2011 base earnings were $233.6 million ($2.29 per
diluted share), compared with $239.4 miltion ($2.34 per
diluted share) in 2010. This 2% year-over-year decline was the
result of a negative mix of business, higher labor and other
costs, and a higher effective tax rate, partially offset by pro-
ductivity gains and lower pension and management incentive
costs. Higher prices were able to offset increases in the cost
of materials, energy and freight.

Sales grew to a record $4.5 billion, up $375 million, or 9%,
year over year. Higher selling prices and acquisitions were key
drivers and together accounted for more than 80% of the
increase. Volume was up 1% compared to 2010 levels, but
was largely offset by negative mix. Higher selling prices were
principally driven by higher prices paid for recovered paper,
plastic resins and tinplate steel.

Overall gross profit margin decreased to 16.8%, compared
with 18.6% in 2010. This decrease was primarily due to neg-
ative mix and the impact of inflation in. labor and other costs
more than offsetting productivity improvements as well as the
pass through of higher material, energy and freight costs with-
out margin.

The consolidated effective tax rate was 27.6%, compared
with 25.3% in 2010 and the effective tax rate on base earn-
ings was 32.5% in 2011, compared with 30.8% in 2010. Both
increases were primarily due to the non-recurring release of
reserves for uncertain tax positions in 2010, the unfavorable
effect of timing differences on the manufacturing deduction,
and income tax credits received in 2010 that were not avail-
able in 2011. Partially offsetting the increases was a benefit in
2011 from deferred tax valuation adjustments.

The aggregate unfunded position of the Company’s various
defined benefit plans increased from $334 million at
December 31, 2010, to $433 million at the end of 2011 as
contributions of $142 million were offset by higher liabilities
due to lower discount rates and 2011 investment returns that
were weaker than the actuarial assumptions.

The Company generated $245 million in cash from oper-
ations during 2011, compared with $375 million generated in
2010. The majority of the year-overyear decline is attributable
to higher 2011 pension contributions partially offset by a
smaller amount of cash used to fund working capital
increases.

Several 2011 and 2010 debt transactions have sig-
nificantly altered the Company’s long-term debt portfolio. In
November 2011, the Company issued $500 million of senior
unsecured notes consisting of $250 million of 4.375% Notes
due 2021 and an additional $250 miilion of its 5.75% Notes
due 2040. These funds were used for the Tegrant acquisition.
Additionally, the Company entered into a $150 million three-
year term loan agreement, using a substantial portion of the
proceeds to reduce outstanding commercial paper and the
remainder for the Tegrant acquisition. In November 2010, the
Company issued $350 million of 5.75% bonds due November
2040. In a concurrent tender offer, the Company retired, at a
cost of $293.3 million, portions of three separate outstanding
debt issues, with a principal amount of $244.1 million. In
addition, the Company repaid $100 million of bonds that
matured in November 2010. See Note 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for further details.
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’2012 outlook

Entering 2012, the Company is cautious regarding the
future pace and sustainability of global economic improve-
ments. Management is focused on continuing to implement
targeted growth projects, particularly in our consumer-related
businesses, fully integrating Tegrant while achieving the tar-
geted annualized synergies of up to $12 million, improving
productivity and continuing to drive cost reduction throughout
our businesses.

The Company expects sales demand will improve from the
levels experienced during the past several months as the
economy continues to slowly recover, leading to year-over-year
volume growth, excluding Tegrant, of approximately 1%. Pro-
jected revenue in 2012 is expected to be higher than 2011 by
approximately $450 million, reflecting increases due to acquis-
itions, primarily Tegrant, volume and, to a lesser degree, price;
partially offset by currency exchange rates. Management
expects productivity improvements will provide a greater bene-
fit to earnings in 2012 than in 2011, which, together with a
moderately positivé price/cost relationship, are expected to
offset increases in labor, fixed overhead, pension and other
costs, and result in improved profit margins.

Benefit plan expense is expected to increase by approx-
imately $14 million in 2012, due primarily to higher actuarial
loss amortization expense. Total contributions to the Compa-
ny’s domestic and international pension and postretirement
plans are expected to be approximately $73 million.

The consolidated effective tax rate on base eamings is
expected to be approximately 33.6% in 2012 as a resuilt of a
larger proportion of earnings taxed at higher U.S. rates and the
2011 benefits from tax reserve releases and non-taxable life
insurance proceeds not expected to recur.

Acquisitions and joint ventures

The Company completed five acquisitions during 2011 at
an aggregate cost of $566.9 million in cash. The most sig-
nificant of these was the November 8, 2011 acquisition of
privately held Tegrant Holding Corp. (“Tegrant”), a leading pro-
vider of highly engineered protective, temperature-assured and
retail security packaging solutions. Tegrant, headquartered in
DeKalb, lllinois, operates more than 30 manufacturing, design
and testing facilities in the United States, Mexico, and Ireland
and employs more than 2,000 persons. Tegrant operates
three strategic business units. Protexic® Brands, the largest
business unit, is a manufacturer of molded expanded foam
serving a number of industries including high technology,
consumer electronics, automotive, appliances, and medical
devices. Tegrant’s Thermosafe® Brands unit is a leading pro-
vider of temperature-assured solutions, primarily used in pack-
aging temperature-sensitive pharmaceuticals and food.
Tegrant’s Alloyd Brands® business unit is a leading manu-
facturer and designer of high-visibility packaging, printed prod-
ucts, sealing equipment, and tooling for retail and medical
markets. The cost of the Tegrant acquisition was $550.0 mil-
lion in cash, subject to final adjustment for changes in net
working capital levels to the date of the closing. The acquis-
ition-was funded with proceeds from the issuance of senior
unsecured debentures and a portion of the proceeds from a
new three-year-term loan. The Tegrant acquisition is expected
to generate annualized sales of approximately $460 million in
the Company’s newly formed Protective Packaging segment.



Also during 2011, the Company completed the acquisitions
of several small tube and core businesses in New Zealand and
Australia at a total cost of $7.2 million in cash, a rigid paper-
board containers business in the United Kingdom at a cost of
$4.7 million in cash, and a recycling business in Greenvilie,
South Carolina, at a cost of $5.0 million in cash. The acquis-
itions of these businesses are expected to generate annual
sales of approximately $24.5 million for the Paper and
Industrial Converted Products segment and $10 million for the
Consumer Packaging segment.

The Company completed four acquisitions during 2010 at a
recorded cost of $138.3 million, of which $137.8 million was
paid in cash with the remainder representing contingent
consideration expected to be paid in future periods. These
acquisitions consisted of Associated Packaging Technologies,
Inc. (APT), a supplier of thermoformed containers to the frozen
food industry (Consumer Packaging segment), Madem Reels
USA, Inc., a manufacturer of nailed wood and plywood reels for
the wire and cable industry (Paper and Industrial Converted
Products segment), and two small tubes and cores businesses
in Canada and Greece (Paper and Industrial Converted Prod-
ucts segment). At the time of the acquisition, APT operated
four manufacturing facilities (two in the United States, one in
Canada and one in Ireland) and employed more than 400
persons. The all-cash purchase price of APT, including the cost
of paying off various obligations, was approximately $120.0
million. The all-cash purchase price for Madem Reels was
$10.7 million, plus contingent consideration of $0.5 million
which was paid in the first quarter of 2011. The aggregate
cost of the Canadian and Greek tube and core businesses was
$7.1 million in cash.

The Company completed one acquisition during 2009 at a
recorded cost of $7.2 million, of which $5.0 million was paid
in cash with the remainder representing contingent consid-
eration expected to be paid in future periods. This acquisition
of the plastic spools and reels assets and business of Econo-
Reel Corporation of Logan, Utah, and its controlled subsidiary,
Southern Reel, is included in the Paper and Industrial Con-
verted Products segment. Also in 2009, the Company paid an
additional $0.5 million in contingent consideration for its 2008
acquisition of Amtex Packaging, Inc.

The Company has accounted for these acquisitions as
purchases and, accordingly, has included their results of oper-
ations in the Company’s consolidated statements of net
income from the respective dates of acquisition.

See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
further information about acquisition activities.

Restructuring and asset impairment charges

Due to its geographic footprint (349 locations in 34 coun-
tries) and the cost-competitive nature of its businesses, the
Company is constantly seeking the most cost-effective means
and structure to serve its customers and to respond to funda-
mental changes in its markets. As such, restructuring costs
have been and are expected to be a recurring component of
the Company’s operating costs. The amount of these costs
can vary significantly from year to year depending upon the
scope and location of the restructuring activities.

The following table recaps the impact of restructuring and
asset impairment charges on the Company’s net income for
the periods presented (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009
Exit costs:

2011 Actions $ 20,861 $ — 3 —

2010 Actions 628 5,528 —

2009 Actions 1,858 6,443 21,380

Earlier Actions 962 2,067 9,771
Asset impairments/(sales):

Operating assets 12,517 9,961 (4,350)
Total charges $ 36,826 $23,999 $26,801
Income tax benefit (11,506) (9,295) (8,458)
Equity method investments,

net of tax 17 671 908

Impact of noncontrolling

interests, net of tax 200 139 3,787

Total impact of
restructuring/asset
impairment charges, net

of tax $ 25,537 $15,514 $23,038

During 2011, the Company announced the closures of a
flexible packaging facility in Canada, a thermoformed piastic
packaging facility in Canada, a tube and core facility in France,
and both a fulfillment service center and a point-of-purchase
display manufacturing facility in the United States. The Com-
pany also sold two small businesses, a plastics operation in
Brazil and a tubes and cores operation in the United States,
and realigned its fixed cost structure resulting in the elimi-
nation of approximately 160 positions.

During 2010, the Company recorded a pretax asset impair-
ment charge of $12.6 million pursuant to notification from a
large customer that the Company’s contract to provide certain
packaging would not be renewed in its entirety. The expected
loss of business caused the Company to conclude that certain
affected assets in its Consumer Packaging segment had been
impaired. This loss was partially offset by net gains of $2.6
million, arising principally from the sale of land and buildings
at previously closed sites within Europe.

The Company recoghized a gain of $11.2 million in 2009
upon collection of the final sales proceeds relating to the sale
of its paper mill in China. The sale had commenced in 2008
and the book value of the assets was written off against the
portion of the sales proceeds that were received in that year.
Due to uncertainty of collection, the Company recognized pro-
ceeds from the China sale on a cash basis and recorded gains
only to the extent that cash collected exceeded the book value
of the assets sold. The gain in 2009 was partially offset by
approximately $6.8 million of asset impairment charges asso-
ciated with other plant closures.

The Company expects to recognize future additional costs
totaling approximately $10.3 million in connection with pre-
viously announced restructuring actions. The Company
believes that the majority of these charges will be incurred and
paid by the end of 2012. As noted above, the Company regu-
larly evaluates its cost structure, including its manufacturing
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capacity, and additional restructuring actions may be under-
taken. Restructuring and asset impairment charges are sub-
ject to significant fluctuations from period to period due to the
varying levels of restructuring activity and the inherent
imprecision in the estimates used to recognize the impairment
of assets and the wide variety of costs and taxes associated
with severance and termination benefits in the countries in
which the Company operates.

See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
further information about restructuring activities and asset
impairment charges.

Environmental charges

In 2007, U.S. Paper Mills Corp. (U.S. Mills), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, recorded charges totaling $25.2
million in association with environmental remediation liabilities
for various sites in the lower Fox River. In 2008, U.S. Mills
increased its reserve for Fox River related environmental
liabilities by a total of $40.8 million. Settlements totaling
$40.8 million were reached during 2008 on certain of the

insurance policies covering the Fox River contamination, and
the recognition of these insurance settlements offset the
impact to earnings of the additional charges.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company (and its
subsidiaries) had accrued $72.6 million and $62.0 million,
respectively, related to environmental contingencies. The year-
over-year increase reflects liabilities assumed with the acquis-
ition of Tegrant. Of the amounts accrued at December 31,
2011 and 2010, a total of $56.8 million and $58.7 million
relate to U.S. Mills, respectively. The range of possible loss on
U.S. Mills’ liability for Fox River is uncertain and, while the
upper end of the range may exceed the net worth of U.S. Mills,
the Company believes the maximum additional exposure to its
consolidated financial position is limited to the equity position
of U.S. Mills, which was approximately $87 million at
December 31, 2011.

See “Item 3. Legal Proceedings” and Note 14 to the Con- '
solidated Financial Statements for a more detailed discussion
of environmental matters affecting the Company.

Reconciliations of GAAP to Non-GAAP financial measures
The following tables reconcile the Company’s non-GAAP financial measures to their most directly comparable GAAP financial

measures for each of the years presented:

Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP financial measures

For the year ended December 31, 2011

Restructuring/ Acquisition  Tax Related

Dollars and shares in thousands, except per Asset Related Adjustments
share data GAAP Impairment Cost & Othen?) Base
Income before interest and income taxes $322,480 $36,826 $12,290 $ (4,953) $366,643
Interest expense, net 38,074 — — — 38,074
income before income taxes $284,406 $36,826 $12,290 $ (4,953) $328,569
Provision for income taxes 78,423 11,506 3,667 13,146 106,742
Income before equity in earnings of affiliates $205,983 $25,320 $ 8,623 $(18,099) $221,827
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of tax 12,061 17 — — 12,078
Net income $218,044 $25,337 $ 8,623 $(18,099) $233,905
Less: Net (income)/loss attributable to

noncontrolling interests, net of tax (527) 200 — — (327)
Net income attributable to Sonoco $217,517 $25,537 $ 8,623 $(18,099) $233,578
Per diluted common share $ 213 $ 0.25 $ 0.09 $ (0.18) $ 2.29

() Consists of insurance settlement gains on a facility destroyed by fire in 2010 totaling $4,953 pretax ($3,130 after tax) and
reductions in tax expense from valuation allowance adjustments on deferred tax assets totaling $14,969.
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Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP financial measures

For the year ended December 31, 2010

Restructuring/ Acquisition  Tax Related

Dollars and shares in thousands, except per Asset Related Adjustments
share data GAAP Impairment Cost & Other® Base
Income before interest and income taxes $338,177 $23,999 $1,909 $ — $364,085
Interest expense, net 35,106 — — — 35,106
Loss from early extinguishment of debt (48,617) — — 48,617 —
Income before income taxes $254,454 $23,999 $1,909 $48,617 $328,979
Provision for income taxes 64,485 9,295 558 27,089 101,427
Income before equity in earnings of affiliates $189,969 $14,704 $1,351 $21,528 $227,552
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of tax 11,505 671 — — 12,176
Net income $201,474 $15,375 $1,351 $21,528 $239,728
Less: Net (income)/loss attributable to

noncontrolling interests, net of tax (421) 138 — — (283)
Net income attributable to Sonoco $201,053 $15,513 $1,351 $21,528 $239,445
Per diluted common share $ 196 $ 0.15 $ 0.01 $ 0.22 $ 234

(1) Consists of loss from the early extinguishment of debt of $48,617 pretax ($31,657 after tax), tax benefits related to a regu-
latory clarification of a 2009 tax law change in Mexico of $5,474, and tax benefits related to the release of a valuation allow-

ance on capital loss carryforwards of $4,655.

Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP financial measures

For the year ended December 31, 2009

Restructuring/
Asset Mexico Tax

Dollars and shares in thousands, except per share data GAAP Impairment  Adjustment Base
Income before interest and income taxes $252,786 $26,801 $ —  $279,587
Interest expense, net 38,565 — — 38,565
Income before income taxes $214,221 $26,801 $ —  $241,022
Provision for income taxes 66,818 8,458 (5,287) 69,989
Income before equity in earnings of affiliates $147,403 $18,343 $5,287  $171,033
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of tax 7,742 208 — 8,650
Net income $155,145 $19,251 $ 5,287 $179,683
Less: Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrolling interests,

net of tax (3,663) 3,787 — 124
Net income attributable to Sonoco $151,482 $23,038 $ 5,287 $179,807
Per diluted common share $ 1.50 $ 0.23 $ 005 $ 178

Results of operations — 2011 versus 2010
Consolidated net sales for 2011 were $4.5 billion, a $375
million, or 9.1%, increase from 2010.
The components of the sales change were:

($ in millions)

Volume/Mix $ 16
Selling price 176
Acquisitions 135
Currency exchange rate/Other 48
Total sales increase $375

Higher selling prices and acquisitions were key drivers and
together accounted for more than 80% of the sales increase.
Although volume was modestly positive overall, results were

mixed across the Company’s various businesses. Volume was
essentially flat overall as a slight increase in consumer-related
businesses was largely offset by other declines. The impact of
higher selling prices was more predominant in the Paper and
Industrial Converted Products segment, where the gains were
principally driven by higher recovered paper prices. Sig-
nificantly higher prices were also seen in the Consumer Pack-
aging segment due to higher material costs, primarily plastic
resins and tinplate steel. In addition, year-overyear sales
benefited from acquisitions, primarily the June 2010 acquis-
ition of Associated Packaging Technologies, Inc. (APT) and the
November 2011 acquisition of Tegrant. Total domestic sales
were $2.8 billion, up 6% from 2010 levels. International sales
were $1.7 billion, up 15% from 2010.
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Costs and expenses

Higher input prices, acquisitions and the impact of exchange
rates combined to increase the Company’s 2011 total cost of
sales from prior year levels. Market prices for recovered paper,
the Company’s most significant raw material in dollar terms,
were higher in 2011 than 2010. Prices paid for resins, metal,
energy and freight were also up year over year. Acquisitions
accounted for approximately $120 million of the year-over-year
increase in reported cost of sales. Gross profit margins
declined year over year due largely to negative mix and the
impact of inflation in labor and other costs more than offsetting
productivity improvements, which, while positive, were lower
than recent years’ experience and management’s expectations.

In 2011, aggregate pension and postretirement expenses
decreased $15.7 million to $36.9 million, versus $52.6 million
in 2010. Approximately 75% of these expenses are reflected in
cost of sales, with the balance in selling, general and admin-
istrative expenses. The lower expense resulted in part from
higher total expected returns on assets due to the strong
investment performance in 2010 and an $85 million con-
tribution made on January 13, 2011. Also contributing to the
year-over-year decrease was lower amortization expense result-
ing primarily from a plan amendment that split the U.S. quali-
fied defined benefit plan into two separate plans, one including
only active participants and another including only inactive par-
ticipants. Actuarial losses on the combined plan in 2010 were
amortized over the average remaining service life of the active
participants. Following the split into two plans at the beginning
of 2011, the basis for amortizing actuarial losses for the
inactive plan changed to the average remaining life expectancy
of the plan participants, a longer period of time than the aver-
age remaining service life of the active participants.

Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percent-
age of sales declined to 8.8% for the year from 9.8% in 2010,
and decreased in total by $7.9 million year over year. This
decrease in spending was largely due to lower incentive com-
pensation costs, lower pension expense, and insurance pro-
ceeds partially offset by acquisitions and exchange rates.

Research and development costs, all of which were
charged to expense, were $18.8 million and $17.8 million in
2011 and 2010, respectively. Managemeént expects research
and development spending in 2012 to be consistent with
2011 levels, excluding the impact of acquisitions on reported
amounts. '

Net interest expense totaled $38.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011, compared with $35.1 million in
2010. The increase was due primarily to higher average debt
levels. In November 2011, the Company issued $500 million of
senior unsecured notes consisting of $250 million of 4.375%
Notes due 2021 and an additional $250 million of its 5.75%
Notes due 2040. These funds were used for the Tegrant
acquisition. Additionally, the Company entered into a $150 mil-
lion three-year Term Loan Agreement, using a substantial por-
tion of the proceeds to reduce outstanding commercial paper
and the remainder for the Tegrant acquisition. In November
2010, the Company issued $350 million of new 5.75% thirty-
year bonds, and used the majority of the proceeds to tender for
and redeem approximately 55% in principal amount of its other
outstanding bonds. This debt extinguishment resulted in a
pretax charge of $48.6 million in 2010.
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Reportable segments

Beginning with the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company will
report its financial results in four reportable segments-in order
to coincide with recent internal management and reporting
changes, to better reflect its changing business mix, and to
align with how certain businesses are managed following the
recent acquisition of Tegrant. These four segments will consist
of the same three reportable segments previously reported,
each with relatively minor changes, and the addition of a fourth
segment — Protective Packaging — which will consist of Tegrant
and the Company’s legacy protective packaging business. The
Company has restated segment operating results for 2010 in
order to conform to the current presentation.

Consolidated operating profits; also referred to as “Income
before income taxes” on the Consolidated Statements of
Income, are comprised of the following:

($ in millions) ) 2011 2010 % Change
Consumer Packaging $191.5 $196.0 (2.3)%
Paper and Industrial

Converted Products 138.2 136.4 1.3%
Packaging Services 21.7 14.2 53.5%
Protective Packaging 15.2 17.5 (13.0)%
Restructuring/asset

impairment charges (36.8)  (24.0) (53.4)%
Acquisition-related costs (12.3) (1.9)  (543.8)%
Property insurance gains 5.0 — 100.0%
Interest expense, net (38.1) (35.1) (8.5)%
Loss from early

extinguishment of debt — (48.6) 100.0%
Consolidated operating

profits $284.4 $254.5 11.8%

Segment results viewed by Company management to eval-
uate segment performance do not include restructuring charg-
es, asset impairment charges, acquisition-related charges,
debt tender charges, net interest expense, income taxes or
certain other items, if any, the exclusion of which the Company
believes improves comparability and analysis. Accordingly, the
term “segment operating profits” is defined as the segment’s
portion of “income before income taxes” excluding restructur-
ing charges, asset impairment charges, acquisition-related
charges, debt tender charges and net interest expense. Gen-
eral corporate expenses, with the exception of restructuring
charges, asset impairment charges, acquisition-related charg-
es, debt tender charges, net interest expense and income
taxes, have been allocated as operating costs to each of the
Company's reportable segments.

See Note 16 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements for more information on reportable segments.

Consumer Packaging

($ in millions) 2011 2010 % Change
Trade sales $1,977.3 $1,798.5 9.4%
Segment operating

profits 191.5 196.0 (2.3)%

Depreciation,

depletion and

amortization 80.3 74.7 7.5%
Capital spending 60.8 66.3 (8.3)%




Sales increased year over year primarily due to higher sell-
ing prices, the July 2010 acquisition of APT, and increased
volume of flexible packaging and plastics products. Overall
segment volumes, excluding the acquisition of APT, were up
slightly over 1%. Selling prices were higher throughout the
segment, reflecting increases in the cost of most major inputs.
Domestic sales were approximately $1,472 million, up 8.8%,
or $119 million, from 2010, while international sales were
approximately $505 million, up 13.2%, or $59 million, from
2010.

Segment operating profits decreased as the benefits of
higher volume, productivity improvements and lower pension
costs were more than offset by negative price/cost and other
inflation. Higher materials costs, including paper, metal and
resins accounted for the majority of the increase in total costs
and fully offset the benefit of higher prices.

Significant capital spending in the Consumer Packaging
segment included projects to increase rigid paper and rigid
plastic container production capacity in the United States and
productivity projects throughout the segment.

Paper and Industrial Converted Products

(% in millions) 2011 2010 % Change
Trade sales $1,892.2 $1,744.0 8.5%
Segment operating

profits 138.2 136.4 1.3%
Depreciation,

depletion and

amortization 86.6 84.4 2.6%
Capital spending 86.8 63.9 35.8%

Reported segment sales were up almost entirely due to
higher selling prices and exchange rates. Increased volume in
reels and paper were offset by lower tubes and cores volume
in almost every region of the world on weaker demand. Tubes
and cores market share is estimated to have remained rela-
tively flat year over year. Higher selling prices, primarily due to
higher average market costs for OCC, accounted for most of
the reported revenue increase. Domestic sales increased $68
million, or 7.1%, to $1,026 million. International sales
increased $81 million, or 10.3%, to $867 million, with approx-
imately $47 million of the increase a result of favorable foreign
exchange rates.

While relatively flat overall volume and a negative mix were
a drag on operating results, they were more than offset by a
positive price/cost relationship and productivity improvements.
Lower pension expenses offset nearly all of the inflation seen
in other costs. Although positive, productivity improvements
were below both historical levels and management’s expect-
ations for the year, due largely to volume that was both tepid
and unpredictable, making it difficult to drive and maintain
production efficiencies from period to period.

Significant capital spending included the modification of
several paper machines, primarily in North America and
Europe, productivity projects throughout the segment, and the
replacement of a portion of the molded plug equipment
destroyed by fire in 2010.

Packaging Services

($ in millions) 2011 2010 % Change
Trade sales $471.5 $477.2 (1.2)%
Segment operating )

profits 21.7 14.2 52.8%
Depreciation, depletion

and amortization 7.4 8.8 (15.9)%
Capital spending 4.6 8.3 (44.9)%

As a result of bidding activity conducted in the fourth quar-
ter of 2009 by a major customer, the Company lost approx-
imately $45 million of that customer’s annual business
beginning in mid 2010. The year-over-year impact of this lost
business totaled approximately $19 million in 2011. Further,
another of the segment’s customers consolidated its business
with another vendor beginning in July 2011. Growth from new
business, largely in Poland and Mexico, was able to offset
much of the 2011 revenue impact from the lost business.
Domestic sales decreased to approximately $193 million, a
29.6% reduction, while international sales increased 36.9% to
approximately $278 million. The increase in international
sales was a result of increased service center volume in
Poland and Mexico and, to a lesser extent, the impact of
exchange rates.

Segment operating profits were higher as positive price/
cost and mix, along with lower pension expense and overhead
costs, all contributed to the year-over-year improvement. A
customer relocation and the lost business mentioned above
worked to reduce overhead costs while the mix of business
during these transitions was favorable to segment profitability.
In addition, 2011 operating profits benefited from
non-recurring incentive payments related to the transition of
business to the alternate vendor.

Capitat spending included capacity expansion in South
America and Poland, some manufacturing consolidation in the
United States, as well as numerous productivity and customer
development projects in the United States and Europe.

Protective Packaging

($ in millions) 2011 2010 % Change
Trade sales $158.0 $104.4 51.3%
Operating profits 15.2 17.5 (13.1)%
Depreciation, depletion

and amortization 5.6 1.8 211.1%
Capital spending 3.9 0.9 314.1%

Sales in the Protective Packaging segment increased due
to the acquisition of Tegrant as volume was off approximately
8% in the Company's legacy protective packaging business on
weak demand, particularly in the appliance market. Domestic
sales were approximately $130 million, up 71.1% from 2010,
and international sales were approximately $28 million, essen-
tially unchanged from 2010.

Operating profits in this segment decreased due primarily
to lower volume and negative price/cost in the legacy busi-
ness. The decrease was partially mitigated by productivity
improvements, cost controls, favorable exchange rates and
the inclusion of Tegrant’s post-acquisition results.
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Capital spending included numerous productivity and cus-
tomer development projects in the newly acquired Tegrant
operations as well as the legacy protective packaging oper-
ations.

Financial position, liquidity and capital resources
Cash flow

Cash flow from operations totaled $245.3 million in 2011
and $375.1 million in 2010. Higher pension and postretire-
ment plan contributions accounted for approximately $112.9
million of the year-over-year decrease.

Cash flow used by investing activities was $729.2 million
in 2011, compared with $283.7 million in 2010. This increase
was due to higher year-overyear acquisition spending driven
primarily by the $550 million acquisition of Tegrant in
November 2011. Additionally, capital spending increased to
$173.4 million in 2011 from $145.9 million in 2010. Capital
spending is expected to be approximately $190 million in
2012,

Net cash provided (used) by financing activities totaled
$507.5 million in 2014, compared with $(116.6) million in
2010. During the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company issued
$500 million of senior unsecured notes consisting of $250
million of new 4.375% Notes due 2021, and an additional
$250 million of its 5.75% Notes due 2040. These funds were
used for the Tegrant acquisition. Additionally, the Company
entered into a $150 million three-year term loan agreement,
using a substantial portion of the proceeds to reduce out-
standing commercial paper and the remainder for the Tegrant

Contractual obligations

acquisition. Cash dividends increased 2.9% to $115.0 million
in 2011 from $111.8 million in 2010, and the Company
repurchased approximately 1.3 million shares of its common
stock at a cost of $49.4 million during 2011. Net proceeds
from the exercise of stock awards totaled $21.3 million in
2011, compared with $23.2 million in 2010. Net borrowings
increased $660.9 million in 2011, compared with $42.4 mil-
lion in 2010.

Current assets increased year over year by $155.3 million
to $1,312.8 million at December 31, 2011. The increase
resulted primarily from higher levels of trade accounts receiv-
able and inventory due to the acquisition of Tegrant. Current
liabilities increased year over year by $55.8 million to $836.5
million at December 31, 2011, primarily due to the Tegrant
acquisition and an increase in the current portion of long-term
debt. These increases were partially offset by lower trade
accounts payable (excluding Tegrant) and lower accruals for
management incentives. The Company’s current ratio was 1.6
at December 31, 2011, and 1.5 at December 31, 2010.

The Company uses a notional pooling arrangement with an
international bank to help manage global liquidity require-
ments. Under this pooling arrangement, the Company and its
participating subsidiaries may maintain either a cash deposit
or borrowing position through local currency accounts with the
bank, so long as the aggregate position of the global pool is a
notionally calculated net cash deposit. Because it maintains a
security interest in the cash deposits, and has the right to
offset the cash deposits against the borrowings, the bank
provides the Company and its participating subsidiaries favor-
able interest terms on both.

The following table summarizes contractual obligations at December 31, 2011:

Payments Due In

($ in millions) ’ Total 2012 20132014 20152016 Beyond 2016 Uncertain
Debt obligations $1,286.6 $ 53.7 $259.9 $107.4 $ 865.6 $ —
Interest paymentst 1,201.9 64.6 120.5 110.4 906.4 —
Operating leases 114.4 36.9 44.3 21.9 11.3 —
Income tax contingencies? 27.4 — — — — 27.4
Purchase obligations3 253.4 73.3 106.9 33.4 39.8 —
Total contractual obligations* $2,883.7 $228.5 $531.6 $273.1 $1,823.1 $27.4

1 Includes interest payments on outstanding fixed-rate, long-term debt obligations, as well as financing fees on the backstop line

of credit.

2 Due to the nature of this obligation, the Company is unable to estimate the timing of the cash outflows.
3 Includes only long-term contractual commitments. (Does not include short-term obligations for the purchase of goods and serv-

ices used in the ordinary course of business.)

4 Excludes potential cash funding requirements of the Company’s retirement plans and retiree health and life insurance plans.

Capital resources

The Company’s total debt at December 31, 2011 was
$1,286.6 million, a year-overyear increase of $665.7 million.
The increase was due to additional borrowings and the impact
of foreign exchange rates.

During the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company issued
$500 million of senior unsecured notes consisting of $250
million of 4.375% Notes due 2021 and an additional $250
million of its 5.75% Notes due 2040. Proceeds from the issu-
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ance of these notes were used to fund the Tegrant acquisition.
Additionally, the Company entered into a $150 million three-
year term loan agreement, using a substantial portion of the
proceeds to reduce commercial paper and the remainder for
the Tegrant acquisition.

Under Internal Revenue Service rules, U.S. corporations
may borrow funds from foreign subsidiaries for up to 30 days
without unfavorable tax consequences. At various times
throughout 2011 and 2010, including each year end, the



Company utilized this rule to access offshore cash in lieu of
issuing commercial paper. Amounts outstanding under the rule
at December 31, 2011 and 2010 were $145 million and $100
million, respectively. These shortterm lending arrangements
were subsequently settled within the allowable period, result-
ing in equivalent increases in commercial paper outstanding
and cash on hand. Depending on its immediate offshore cash
needs, the Company may choose to access such funds again
in the future as allowed under the rule.

The Company’s cash balances are held in numerous loca-
tions throughout the world, with the vast majority held outside
of the United States. The cash held outside the United States
is available to meet local liquidity needs, or for capital
expenditures, acquisitions, and other offshore growth oppor-
tunities. Most of the amounts held outside of the United
States could be repatriated but, under current law, would be
subject to U.S. federal income taxes, less applicable foreign
tax credits. As we enjoy ample domestic liquidity through a
combination of operating cash flow generation and access to
bank and capital markets borrowings, we consider the majority
of our current cash balances to be indefinitely invested outside
the United States and, accordingly, do not provide for U.S.
federal tax liability on these amounts for financial reporting
purposes. Repatriation could result in additional U.S. federal
income tax payments in future years. We utilize a variety of tax
planning and financing strategies to ensure that our worldwide
cash is available in the locations where it is needed. Because
we do not expect to repatriate a significant amount of offshore
cash, potential taxes on any such repatriation would not be
expected to have a material effect on the Company’s overall
liquidity, financial condition, or results of operations.

The Company currently operates a $350 million commercial
paper program, supported by a committed bank credit facility
of the same amount. In October 2010, the Company entered
into an amended and restated credit agreement for that facility
with a syndicate of eight banks. The bank credit facility is
committed through October 2015. If circumstances were to
prevent the Company from issuing commercial paper, it has
the contractual right to draw funds directly on the underlying
bank credit facility. Outstanding commercial paper, a compo-
nent of the Company’s long-term debt, totaled $27 million at
December 31, 2011.

Acquisitions and internal investments are key elements of
the Company's growth strategy. The Company believes that
cash on hand, cash generated from operations and the avail-
able borrowing capacity under its existing credit agreement will
enable it to support this strategy. Although the Company cur-
rently has no intent to do so, it may obtain additional financing
in order to pursue its growth strategy. Although the Company
believes that it has excess borrowing capacity beyond its cur-
rent lines, there can be no assurance that such financing
would be available or, if so, at terms that are acceptable to
the Company.

The Company’s various U.S and international defined bene-
fit pension and postretirement plans were underfunded at the
end of 2011 by approximately $433 million. During 2011, the
Company contributed approximately $142 million to its benefit
plans, including an $85 million contribution to its U.S qualified
defined benefit pension plan in January 2011 designated for
the 2010 plan year. The Company anticipates that benefit plan

contributions in 2012 will total approximately $73 million.
Future funding requirements will depend largely on actual
investment returns and future actuarial assumptions. Partic-
ipation in the U.S. qualified defined benefit pension plan is
frozen for salaried and non-union hourly U.S. employees hired
on or after January 1, 2004. In February 2009, the plan was
further amended to freeze service credit earned effective
December 31, 2018. This change is expected to moderately
reduce the volatility of long-term funding exposure and
expenses.

Total equity decreased $82.3 million during 2011 as net
income of $218.0 million was offset by other comprehensive
losses totaling $167.5 million and dividend paymenits of
$116.2 million. The primary components of other compre-
hensive loss were a $39.1 million translation loss from the
impact of a stronger U.S. dollar on the Company’s foreign
investments and a $127.8 million net defined benefit plan
adjustment reflecting actuarial losses in the Company’s vari-
ous defined benefit plans, which resulted from lower discount
rates and lower than expected returns on plan assets. Total
equity increased $127.1 million during 2010, as net income of
$201.5 million and other comprehensive income of $18.8 mil-
lion was partially offset by dividend payments of $112.9 mil-
lion. Other comprehensive income included an $8.1 million
translation gain from the impact of a weaker U.S. dollar on the
Company’s foreign investments and a $13.6 million net
defined benefit plan adjustment stemming primarily from 2010
investment performance on the assets in the Company’s vari-
ous defined benefit plans.

The Company’s Board of Directors has authorized the
repurchase of up to 5 million shares of the Company’s com-
mon stock. On December 3, 2010 the Company announced it
would immediately begin repurchasing 2 million shares of the
5 million shares authorized. During 2010, a total of 0.7 million
shares were repurchased under this program at a cost of
$23.2 million. During the first quarter of 2011, an additional
1.3 million shares were repurchased at a cost of $46.3 mil-
lion, completing the announced buyback. On April 20, 2011,
the Company’s Board of Directors reinstated 2 million shares
to its authorization. No additional shares have been
repurchased since the reinstatement. Accordingly, at
December 31, 2011, a total of 5 million shares remain avail-
able for repurchase. .

Although the ultimate determination of whether to pay divi-
dends is within the sole discretion of the Board of Directors,
the Company plans to increase dividends as earnings grow.
Dividends per common share were $1.15 in 2011, $1.11 in
2010 and $1.08 in 2009. On February 7, 2012, the Company
declared a regular quarterly dividend of $0.29 per common
share payable on March 9, 2012, to shareholders of record on
February 17, 2012.

Off-balance sheet arrangements
The Company had no material off-balance sheet arrange-
ments at December 31, 2011.

Risk management
As a result of operating globally, the Company is exposed

to changes in foreign exchange rates. The exposure is well
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diversified as the Company’s facilities are spread throughout
the world, and the Company generally sells in the same coun-
tries where it produces. The Company monitors these
exposures and may use traditional currency swaps and forward
exchange contracts to hedge a portion of forecasted trans-
actions that are denominated in foreign currencies, foreign
currency assets and liabilities or net investment in foreign
subsidiaries. The Company’s foreign operations are exposed to
political and cultural risks, but the risks are mitigated by
diversification and the relative stability of the countries in which
the Company has significant operations. The Company has
operations in Venezuela that, beginning January 1, 2010, are
being accounted for as hyperinfiationary. These operations have
net assets of approximately $3 million and annual net sales of
approximately $8 million. Accounting for these operations as
hyperinflationary did not have a material effect on the Comba—
ny's financial statements during any of the periods presented.

The Company is exposed to interest-rate fluctuations as a
result of using debt as a source of financing for its operations.
The Company may, from time to time, use traditional,
unleveraged interest-rate swaps to manage its mix of fixed and
variable rate debt and to control its exposure to interest rate
movements within selected ranges.

The Company is a purchaser of various raw material inputs
such as recovered paper, energy, steel, aluminum and resin.
The Company generally does not engage in significant hedging
activities, other than for energy and, from time to time, alumi-
num, because there is usually a high correlation between the
primary input costs and the ultimate selling price of its prod-
ucts. Inputs are generally purchased at market or at fixed
prices that are established with individual vendors as part of
the purchase process for quantities expected to be consumed
in the ordinary course of business. On occasion, where the
correlation between selling price and input price is less direct,
the Company may enter into derivative contracts such as
futures or swaps to manage the effect of price fluctuations.

At December 31, 2011, the Company had contracts out-
standing to hedge the price on a portion of anticipated
commodity and energy purchases as well as to hedge certain
foreign exchange risks for various periods through December
2014. These contracts included swaps to cover approximately
9.3 million MMBTUs of natural gas representing approximately
72%, 73%, and 38% of anticipated U.S. and Canadian natural
gas usage for 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively. Additionally,
the Company had swap contracts covering 4,419 metric tons of
aluminum, representing approximately 33% of anticipated
usage for 2012, and 25,500 short tons of OCC representing
approximately 4% of anticipated usage for 2012. Both the
aluminum and OCC hedges relate to fixed-price customer con-
tracts. At December 31, 2011, the Company had a number of
foreign currency contracts in place as both designated and
undesignated hedges of either anticipated foreign currency
denominated transactions or existing financial assets and
liabilities. At December 31, 2011, the total notional amount, in
U.S. dollar terms, was $1.70 million, of which $68 million
related to the euro, $50 million to the Canadian dollar, $20
million to the Mexican peso, and $10 million to the Turkish lira.

The fair market value of derivatives was a net unfavorable
position of $14.1 million ($9.1 million after tax) at
December 31, 2011, and a net unfavorable position of $12.1
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million ($7.7 million after tax) at December 31, 2010.
Derivatives are marked to fair value using published market
prices, if available, or estimated values based on current price
quotes and a discounted cash flow model. See Note 9 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on
financial instruments.

The Company is subject to various federal, state and local
environmental laws and regulations concerning, among other
matters, solid waste disposal, wastewater effluent and air
emissions. Aithough the costs of compliance have not been
significant due to the nature of the materials and processes
used in manufacturing operations, such laws also make gen-
erators of hazardous wastes and their legal successors finan-
cially responsible for the cleanup of sites contaminated by
those wastes. The Company has been named a potentially
responsible party at several environmentally contaminated
sites. These regulatory actions and a small number of private
party lawsuits are believed to represent the Company’s largest
potential environmental liabilities. The Company has accrued
$72.6 million (including $56.8 million associated with U.S.
Mills) at December 31, 2011, compared with $62.0 million at
December 31, 2010 (including $58.7 million associated with
U.S. Mills), with respect to these sites. See “Environmental
Charges,” Item 3 — Legal Proceedings, and Note 14 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on
environmental matters.

Results of operations — 2010 versus 2009
Operating Revenue

Consolidated net sales for 2010 were $4.1 billion, a $527
million, or 14.6%, increase from 2009.

The components of the sales change were:

($ in millions)

Volume/Mix $209
Selling price 142
Acquisitions 77
Sales of corrugating medium 66
Currency exchange rate/Other 33
Total sales increase $527

Companywide volume increased approximately 6% from
20009 levels. Although most of the overall volume increase
came from the Company’s industrial-focused businesses,
volume was up in.nearly all business units. Total domestic
sales were $2.7 billion, up 15% from 2009. International
sales were $1.4 billion, up 14% from 2009 levels. The selling
price increases were realized almost exclusively in the Paper
and Industrial Converted Products segment.in response to
higher input costs.

Costs and expenses

Higher volumes and input prices, specifically recovered
paper prices, combined to increase the Company’s 2010 total
cost of sales from prior year levels. Market prices for recov-
ered paper, the Company’s most significant raw material in
dollar terms, were significantly higher over the course of 2010
compared to 2009 levels. Prices paid for resins, energy and
freight were also up year over year. Conversely, the Company’s
cost for tinplate steel was lower than 2009 levels.



In 2010, aggregate pension and postretirement expenses
decreased $28.8 million to $52.6 million, versus $81.4 mil-
lion in 2009. Approximately 75% of these expenses are
reflected in cost of sales, with the balance in selling, general
and administrative expenses.

Throughout 2009, and continuing into 2010, the Company
engaged in a number of cost management efforts, including:
realigning its business and streamlining the management
organization to be more efficient; enhancing productivity and
controlling variable costs; and reducing structural costs to a
level management believed to be more aligned with new mar-
ket realities, while maintaining the capacity necessary to grow
with customers. The Company’s efforts to reduce fixed costs,
which included rationalizing its manufacturing footprint,
reflected lower revised expectations of what normal post-
recession market demand would look like. The result of this
was lower plant overhead in 2010 when compared with 2009,
despite the increased business activity that year.

Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percent-
age of sales decreased to 9.8% for 2010 from 10.7% in 2009,
despite increasing in total by $26.4 million year over year. This
increase in spending was due to higher incentive compensa-
tion costs along with the impact of the APT acquisition, which
were partially offset by lower pension and postretirement costs
and the full-year impact of 2009 cost containment efforts.

Research and development costs, all of which were
charged to expense, were $17.8 million and $14.5 million in
2010 and 2009, respectively.

Net interest expense totaled $35.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010, compared with $38.6 million in
2009. The decrease was due primarily to lower average debt
levels and lower average interest rates. In 2010, the Company
issued $350 million of new 5.75% thirty-year bonds, and used
the majority of the proceeds to tender for and redeem approx-
imately 55% in principal amount of its other outstanding
bonds. This debt extinguishment resulted in a pretax charge of
$48.6 million.

Reportable segments

Segment operating results for 2010 and 2009 have been
restated to conform to the current presentation. Consolidated
operating profits, also referred to as “Income before income
taxes” on the Consolidated Statements of Income, are com-
prised of the following:

($ in millions) 2010 2009 % Change
Consumer Packaging $196.0 $175.0 12.0%
Paper and Industrial

Converted Products 136.4 77.3 76.5%
Packaging Services 14.2 12.3 15.4%
Protective Packaging 17.5 15.0 16.7%
Restructuring/asset

impairment charges (24.0) (26.8) 10.4%
Acquisition-related costs (1.9) —  100.0%
Interest expense, net (35.1) (38.6) 9.1%
Loss from early

extinguishment of debt (48.6) — 100.0%
Consolidated operating

profits $254.5  $214.2 18.8%

Consumer Packaging

($ in millions) 2010 2009 % Change
Trade sales $1,798.5 $1,647.8 9.1%
Segment operating

profits 196.0 175.0 12.0%
Depreciation,

depletion and

amortization 74.7 72.2 3.5%
Capital spending 66.3 35.9 84.5%

Sales increased due to the July 2010 acquisition of APT,
increased volume of flexible packaging, molded plastics prod-
ucts and metal ends, and the favorable impact of a weaker
dollar against most currencies other than the euro. Overall
segment volumes, excluding the acquisition of APT, were up
approximately 3%. Increased selling prices of molded plastics
products were partially offset by declines in flexible packaging
and metal ends. Domestic sales were approximately $1,353
million, up 9.1%, or $11.3 million, from 2009, while interna-
tional sales were approximately $446 million, up 9.2%, or $37
million, from 2009.

Segment operating profits increased primarily due to the
impact of the APT acquisition, productivity and purchasing ini-
tiatives, lower pension costs and higher volumes. These were
partially offset by an unfavorable price/cost relationship, pri-
marily in flexible packaging and molded plastics products,
along with higher costs of labor, freight and energy.

Significant capital spending in the Consumer Packaging
segment included productivity projects throughout the segment
and projects to increase rigid paper and rigid plastic container
production capacity in the United States.

Paper and Industrial Converted Products

($ in millions) 2010 2009 % Change
Trade sales $1,744.0 $1,423.6 22.5%
Segment operating :

profits 136.4 77.3 76.5%
Depreciation,

depletion and

amortization 84.4 88.5 (4.6)%
Capital spending 63.9 57.5 11.2%

Sales were up due to volume improvements, higher selling
prices and corrugating medium sales. The volume improve-
ments were seen throughout the segment as businesses con-
tinued to recover from the global economic recession. The
most significant volume increases occurred in the North
American and European tube and core operations, which were
also the units most significantly impacted by the recession.
Volume improvements were most notable in the first half of
the year, as the second half of 2009 had started to show
some signs of recovery. Volume in the segment increased by
approximately 8%. Higher year-over-year selling prices, primar-
ily due to higher average market costs for OCC, also con-
tributed significantly to the sales increase. In 2010, the
Company began selling corrugating medium from a machine
that had been producing exclusively for Georgia-Pacific under a
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cost-plus fixed-management-fee arrangement, accounting for
approximately $66 million of additional sales. Domestic sales
increased approximately $242 million, or 33.8%, to approx-
imately $958 million. International sales increased approx-
imately $78 million, or 11.1% to approximately $786 million,
with approximately $18 million of the increase a result of
favorable foreign exchange rates.

The combination of higher volumes, productivity initiatives,
the full-year impact of restructuring actions on fixed costs and
lower pension costs resulted in a 77% improvement in seg-
ment operating profits in 2010. Partially offsetting these favor-
able factors was an unfavorable price/cost relationship that
resulted from the Company’s inability to fully recover an
approximate 140% increase in average OCC prices through
higher selling prices and higher costs for labor, freight and
energy. The Company’s manufacturing plant in Bastrop, Louisi-
ana, which primarily produced molded plugs used in tubes and
cores for the paper industry, was destroyed by fire on
November 5, 2010. While the Company did not rebuild the
plant, the majority of the production capability has been
replaced.

Significant capital spending included the modification of
several paper machines, primarily in North America and
Europe, and productivity projects throughout the segment.

Packaging Services

($ in millions) 2010 2009 % Change
Trade sales $477.2 $434.6 9.8%
Segment operating

profits 14.2 12.3 15.4%
Depreciation, depletion

and amortization 8.8 11.0 (20.0)%
Capital spending 8.3 51 63.8%

As a result of bidding activity conducted in the fourth quar-
ter of 2009 by a major customer of the Packaging Services
segment, the Company lost approximately $45 million of that
customer’s annual business beginning in mid 2010. The year-
over-year impact of the lost business with this customer, all of
which occurred during the second half of 2010, totaled approx-
imately $26 million, with an additional year-over-year loss of
approximately $19 million in the first half of 2011. Domestic
sales decreased to approximately $274 million, a 6.6% reduc-
tion, while international sales increased 43.8% to approx-
imately $203 million. The increase in international sales was a
result of increased service center volume in Poland and Mex-
ico, as the impact of foreign currency translation was not sig-
nificant in 2010.

Segment operating profits improved as productivity ini-
tiatives and increased volume more than offset an unfavorable
shift in the mix of business and lower selling prices. The mar-
gins on the new business were lower than those on the lost
point-of-purchase and fulfillment business.

Capital spending included capacity expansion in South
America, some manufacturing consolidation in the United
States, as well as numerous productivity and customer devel-
opment projects in the United States and Europe.
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Protective Packaging

($ in millions) ~ 2010 2009 % Change
Trade sales $104.4 $91.3 14.3%
Operating profits 17.5 15.0 16.7%
Depreciation, depletion

and amortization 1.8 1.9 (5.3)%
Capital spending 0.9 0.5 72.4%

Sales in the Protective Packaging segment increased due
to improved volumes and higher selling prices. The selling
price increases were put in place as a response to increased
input costs. Domestic sales were approximately $76 million,
up 13.3% from 2009, and international sales were approx-
imately $28 million, an increase of 17.2%.

Operating profits in this segment increased due primarily to
higher volume, improved productivity and lower pension costs.
The increase was dampened by an unfavorable selling price/
material cost variance as selling price increases were unable
to recover higher raw material costs.

Capital spending included investing in productivity and
customer development projects in the United States, primarily
for molded and extruded plastics.

Critical accounting policies and estimates

Management’s discussion and analysis of the Company’s
financial condition and results of operations are based upon
the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles gen-
erally accepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP). The prepara-
tion of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, rev-
enues and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities. The Company evaluates these estimates and
assumptions on an ongoing basis, including but not limited to
those related to inventories, bad debts, derivatives, income
taxes, intangible assets, restructuring, pension and other
postretirement benefits, environmental liabilities, and con-
tingencies and litigation. Estimates and assumptions are
based on historical and other factors believed to be reason-
able under the circumstances. The results of these estimates
may form the basis of the carrying value of certain assets and
liabilities and may not be readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results, under conditions and circumstances different
from those assumed, may differ from estimates. The impact of
and any associated risks related to estimates, assumptions
and accounting policies are discussed in Management’s Dis-
cussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations, as well as in the Notes to the Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements, if applicable, where such estimates, assump-
tions and accounting policies affect the Company’s reported
and expected financial results.

The Company believes the accounting policies discussed in
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included
in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are critical to
understanding the results of its operations. The following dis-
cussion represents those policies that involve the more sig-
nificant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of
the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.



Impairment of long-lived, intangible and other assets

Assumptions and estimates used in the evaluation of
potential impairment can result in adjustments affecting the
carrying values of long-lived, intangible and other assets and
the recognition of impairment expense in the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company evaluates
its long-lived assets (property, plant and equipment), definite-
lived intangible assets and other assets (including notes
receivable and equity investments) for impairment whenever
indicators of impairment exist, or when it commits to sell the
asset. If the sum of the undiscounted expected future cash
flows from a long-lived asset or definite-lived intangible asset
group is less than the carrying value of that asset group, an
asset impairment charge is recoghized. Key assumptions and
estimates used in the cash flow model generally include price
levels, sales growth, profit margins and asset life. The amount
of an impairment charge, if any, is calculated as the excess of
the asset’s carrying value over its fair value, generally repre-
sented by the discounted future cash flows from that asset or,
in the case of assets the Company evaluates for sale, as
estimated proceeds less costs to sell. The Company takes
into consideration historical data and experience together with
all other relevant information available when estimating the
fair values of its assets. However, fair values that could be
realized in actual transactions may differ from the estimates
used to evaluate impairment. In addition, changes in the
assumptions and estimates may result in a different con-
clusion regarding impairment.

impairment of goodwill

In accordance with ASC 350, the Company evaluates its
goodwill for impairment annually and whenever events happen
or circumstances change that would make it more likely than
not that impairment may have occurred. If the carrying value of
a reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of
that goodwill, an impairment charge is recognized for the
excess. The Company’s reporting units are one level below its
operating segments, as determined in accordance with ASC
350.

The Company completed its most recent annual goodwill
impairment testing during the third quarter of 2011. As
described in Note 7, the Company elected early adoption of
ASU 2011-08 for its annual goodwill impairment testing. Under
prior guidance, a two-step process was followed to test for
goodwill impairment, the first step being to determine and
compare the estimated current fair value of each reporting unit
to its carrying value. If the estimated fair value was less than
the carrying value, then step two was performed to determine
the amount, if any, of the goodwill impairment. The revised
guidance in ASU 2011-08 allows a company to first make a
qualitative determination regarding the likelihood of impair-
ment before performing these two steps. If impairment is not
determined to be more likely than not, then the two-step test
does not need to be conducted.

For 2011 testing purposes, the Company performed an
assessment of each reporting unit by considering certain qual-
itative and quantitative factors. Qualitative factors included the
macroeconomic environment, Company stock price and market
capitalization movement, business strategy adjustments, and
significant customer wins and losses. Quantitative factors

included the amount the fair value of each reporting unit
exceeded its carrying value in the 2010 analysis, current year
operating performance as compared to 2010 projections,
implied fair values based on comparable trading and trans-
action multiples, and, in certain cases, resuits of an updated
discounted cash flow analysis. As a result of its qualitative
and quantitative assessments, the Company concluded that
there was no impairment of goodwill for any of its reporting
units.

When the Company estimates the fair value of a reporting
unit it does so using a discounted cash flow model based on
projections of future years’ operating results and associated
cash flows, together with comparable trading and transaction
muitiples. The Company’s model discounts future cash flows,
forecasted over a ten-year period, with an estimated residual
growth rate. The Company’s projections incorporate manage-
ment's best estimates of the expected future results, which
include expectations related to new business awards, and,
where applicable, improved operating margins. Future cash -
flows are discounted to present value using a discount rate
management believes is commensurate with the risks inherent
in the cash flows.

The Company’s assessments, whether qualitative or quanti-
tative, incorporate management's expectations for the future,
including forecasted growth rates and/or margin improve-
ments. Therefore, should there be changes in the relevant
facts and circumstances and/or expectations, management’s

“ assessment regarding goodwill impairment may change as

well.

Although no reporting units failed the qualitative or quantita-
tive assessments noted above, in management’s opinion the
reporting units with significant goodwill having the greatest risk
of future impairment if actual results are not as expected are
Blow Molded Plastics (Matrix) and Flexible Packaging. Total
goodwill associated with these reporting units was approx-
imately $129 million and $93 million, respectively, at
December 31, 2011.

The reporting unit with the most significant growth expect-
ations relative to its size is Rigid Paper Containers — Europe.
Total goodwill associated with this reporting unit was approx-
imately $9 million at December 31, 2011.

The Blow Molded Plastics unit manufactures products
primarily for use in nonfood applications. This unit was
acquired in May 2007 to be a growth platform for the Company
and to expand the Company’s operations into the health and
beauty market. Since that time, the Company has continued to
invest significantly in the business, and projections for this
reporting unit reflect management’s expectations for revenue
growth as well as improvements in operating margins. Sales
growth is expected to be driven by new business from key
nonfood customers and expansion into more food-based appli-
cations. Should the sales growth and margin improvements
not materialize, goodwill impairment charges may be incurred.
Based on the valuation work performed for the current year
test, the estimated fair value of Blow Molded Plastics
exceeded its carrying value by approximately 11%.

In 2010, the Company was advised by one of its Flexible
Packaging customers that its contract to provide certain pack-
aging would not be renewed in its entirety. According to the
customer, the business was to be phased out over a two-year
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period beginning in 2011. As a result, the Company recorded a
noncash asset impairment charge of approximately $12.6 mil-
lion on certain long-lived assets within the affected operations
during the third quarter of 2010. Although the transition has
begun, it has not occurred as quickly as originally anticipated.
However, the expected loss of business was reflected in the
Company’s qualitative evaluation of the likelihood of goodwill
impairment. The Company expects these lost sales will be
replaced by new business in approximately the same time
frame over which they are lost and that operating margins will
benefit from improved manufacturing productivity and overhead
cost management. However, should the sales growth not
materialize, and/or the operating margins not improve to the
extent expected, goodwill impairment charges may be incurred.
In its evaluation of goodwill impairment, management esti-
mated that the fair value of the Flexible Packaging unit
exceeded its carrying value by approximately 19%.

Rigid Paper Containers - Europe manufactures round and
shaped composite paperboard cans, single-wrap paperboard
packages and fiber cartridges. Results in this unit declined
substantially during the global recession, reflecting both a
decline in volume and profit margins due to competitive con-
ditions. Based on recent activity with certain key customers,
management expects a significant recovery in sales to
pre-recession levels over the next two to three years based on
expanded volumes with such customers and that profit mar-
gins will recover, at least partially, on improving price/cost,
productivity gains and fixed cost leverage. In addition, as a
result of the 2011 acquisition of a paperboard container
manufacturer in the United Kingdom, the unit is expected to
generate additional sales and synergy savings. However,
should the projected improvements fall short of management’s
expectations, a goodwill impairment charge may be incurred.

In its evaluation of goodwill impairment, management esti-
mated that the fair value of Rigid Paper Containérs — Europe
exceeded its carrying value by approximately 71%.

During the time subsequent to the annual evaluation and at -

December 31, 2011, the Company considered whether any
events and/or changes in circumstances had resulted in the
likelihood that the goodwill of any of its reporting units may
have been impaired. It is management’s opinion that no such
events have occurred.

Holding the other valuation assumptions constant, Blow
Molded Plastic’s projected operating profits across all future
periods would have to decline 9% before the reporting unit's
carrying value is deemed to be in excess of its fair value. The
corresponding percentages for Flexible Packaging and Rigid
Paper Containers — Europe are 12% and 35%, respectively. The
future operating performance of these units is dependent upon
a number of variables which cannot be predicted with certainty.

Income taxes

The Company follows ASC 740, Accounting for Income
Taxes, which requires a reduction of the carrying amounts of
deferred tax assets by recording a valuation allowance if,
based on the available evidence, it is more likely than not
such assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets-generally
represent expenses recognized for financial reporting pur-
poses, which will result in tax deductions over varying future
periods. The valuation of deferred tax assets requires judg-
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ment in assessing the likely future tax consequences of
events that have been recognized in our financial statements
or tax returns and future profitability. Our accounting for
deferred tax consequences represents our best estimate of
those future events. Changes in our current estimates, due to
unanticipated events or otherwise, could have a material
impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

For those tax positions where it is more likely than not that
a tax benefit will be sustained, the Company has recorded the
largest amount of tax benefit with a greater than 50% like-
lihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing
authority having full knowledge of all relevant information. For
those positions not meeting the more-likely-than-not standard,
no tax benefit has been recognized in the financial state-
ments. Associated interest has also been recognized, where
applicable. i

The estimate for the potential outcome of any uncertain tax
issue is highly judgmental. The Company believes it has
adequately provided for any reasonably foreseeable outcome
related to these matters. However, future results may include
favorable or unfavorable adjustments to estimated tax
liabilities in the period the assessments are made or resolved
or when statutes of limitations on potential assessments
expire. Additionally, the jurisdictions in which earnings. or
deductions are realized may differ from current estimates. As
a result, the eventual resolution of these matters could have a
different impact on the effective rate than currently reflected or
expected.

Stock-based compensation plans

The Company utilizes share-based compensation in the
form of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted
stock units and other share-based awards. Certain awards are
in the form of contingent stock units where both the ultimate
number of units and the vesting period are performance
based. The amount and timing of compensation expense
associated with these performance-based awards are based
on estimates regarding future performance using measures
defined in the plans. In 2011, the performance measures
consisted of Earnings per Share and Return on Net Assets
Employed. Changes in estimates regarding the future achieve-
ment of these performance measures may result in significant
fluctuations from period to period in the amount of compensa-
tion expense reflected in the Company’'s Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements.

The Company uses a binomial option-pricing model to

determine the grant date fair value of its stock options and

stock appreciation rights. The binomial option-pricing model
requires the input of subjective assumptions. Management
routinely assesses the assumptions and methodologies used
to calculate estimated fair value of share-based compensa-
tion. Circumstances may change and additional data may
become available over time that results in changes to these
assumptions and methodologies, which could materially
impact fair value determinations.

Pension and postretirement benefit plans

The Company has significant pension and postretirement
benefit costs that are developed from actuarial valuations. The
actuarial valuations employ key assumptions having a sig-



nificant effect on the Company’s projected liabilities for pen-
sion and other postretirement benefits. The key assumptions
used at December 31, 2011 in determining the projected
benefit obligation and the accumulated benefit obligation for
U.S. retirement and retiree health and life insurance plans
include: discount rates of 4.76% and 4.33% for the active and
inactive qualified retirement plans, respectively, 4.23% for the
non-qualified retirement plans, and 3.76% for the retiree
health and life insurance plan; and rates of compensation
increases ranging from 4.15% to 6.02%. The key assumptions
used to determine 2011 net periodic benefit cost for U.S.
retirement and retiree health and life insurance plans include:
discount rates of 5.52% and 5.01% for the active and inactive
qualified retirement plans, respectively, 4.91% for the
non-qualified retirement plans, and 4.37% for the retiree
health and life insurance plan; an expected long-term rate of
return on plan assets of 8.0% and 7.7% for the active and
inactive qualified retirement plans, respectively; and rates of
compensation increases ranging from 4.29% to 6.12%.

During 2011, the Company recorded total pension and
postretirement benefit expenses of approximately $36.9 mil-
lion, compared with $52.6 million during 2010. The 2011
amount reflects $85.5 million of expected returns on plan
assets at the assumed rate of 7.7% and interest cost of
$72.5 million at a weighted-average discount rate of 5.23%.
The 2010 amount reflects $79.3 million of expected returns
on plan assets at an assumed rate of 8.3% and interest cost
of $73.9 million at a weighted-average discount rate of 5.78%.
During 2011, the Company made contributions to its pension
and postretirement plans of $142.1 million, including an
$85.0 million contribution made in January 2011 to its U.S.
qualified defined benefit pension plan designated for the 2010
plan year. During 2010, the Company made contributions to
its pension and postretirement plans of $29.2 million. Con-
tributions vary from year to year depending on various factors,
the most significant being asset market values and interest
rates. Cumulative net actuarial losses were approximately
$688 million at December 31, 2011, and are primarily the
result of poor asset performance in 2008 and lower discount
rates. Actuarial losses/gains outside of the 10% corridor
defined by U.S. GAAP are amortized over the average remain-
ing service life of the plan’s active participants or the average
remaining life expectancy of the plan’s inactive participants (if
all or almost all of the plan’s participants are inactive).

Total benefit plan expense in 2012 is expected to be
approximately $14 million higher than in 2011 due primarily to
higher amortization expense resulting from the additional
actuarial losses recorded in 2011.

The Company adjusts its discount rates at the end of each
fiscal year based on yield curves of high-quality debt instru-
ments over durations that match the expected benefit payouts
of each plan. The expected rate of return assumption is
derived by taking into consideration the targeted plan asset
allocation, projected future returns by asset class and active
investment management. A third party asset return model was
used to develop an expected range of returns on plan invest-
ments over a 12 to 15 year period, with the expected rate of
return selected from a best estimate range within the total
range of projected results. The Company periodically
rebalances its plan asset portfolio in order to maintain the

targeted allocation levels. The rate of compensation increase
assumption is generally based on salary and incentive
increases. A key assumption for the U.S. retiree health and life
insurance plan is a medical cost trend rate beginning at 8.0%
for post-age 65 participants and trending down to an ultimate
rate of 5.5% in 2017. The ultimate trend rate of 5.5% repre-
sents the Company’s best estimate of the long-term average
annual medical cost increase over the duration of the plan’s
liabilities. It provides for real growth in medical costs in excess
of the overall inflation level.

Other assumptions and estimates impacting the projected
liabilities of these plans include inflation, participant with-
drawal and mortality rates and retirement ages. The Company
annually re-evaluates assumptions used in projecting the pen-
sion and postretirement liabilities and associated expense.
These judgments, assumptions and estimates may affect the
carrying value of pension and postretirement plan net assets
and liabilities and pension and postretirement plan expenses
in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. The
sensitivity to changes in the critical assumptions for the
Company’s U.S. plans as of December 31, 2011, is as fol-

lows:
Annual
Percentage Projected Benefit Expense
Assumption Point Obligation Higher/
($ in millions) Change Higher/(Lower)  (Lower)
Discount rate -.25 pts $39.6 $2.0
Expected return on
assets -.25 pts N/A $2.2

See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information on the Company’s pension and post-
retirement plans.

Recent accounting pronouncements

Information regarding recent accounting pronouncements is
provided in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and qualitative disclosures
about market risk

information regarding market risk is provided in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K under the following items and captions:
“Conditions in foreign countries where the Company operates
may reduce earnings” and “Foreign exchange rate fluctuations
may reduce the Company’s earnings” in ltem 1A-Risk Factors;
“Risk Management” in item 7 — Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations; and
in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 —
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

ltem 8. Financial statements and supplementary
data

The Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements are provided on pages F-1
through F-30 of this report. Selected quarterly financial data is
provided in Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the shareholders and directors of Sonoco
Products Company:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed
in the index appearing under ltem 15(a)(1) present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Sonoco Products
Company and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2011 and
2010, and the results of their operations and their cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2011, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our
opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the index
appearing under item 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein when read in con-
junction with the related consolidated financial statements.
Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, efféctive internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—integrated Framework issued by the Commit-
tee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COS0). The Company’s management is responsible for these
financial statements and financial statement schedules, for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under
Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these
financial statements, on the financial statement schedule, and
on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Account-
ing Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement and whether effective internal control
over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audits of the financial statements included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial report-
ing included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weak-
ness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operat-
ing effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk. Our audits also included performing such other proce-
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dures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opin-
ions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the trans-
actions and dispositions of the assets of the company;

(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the compa-
ny’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting, management has excluded Tegrant
Holding Corp. from its assessment of internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2011 because it was
acquired by the Company in a purchase business combination
during fiscal 2011. We have also excluded Tegrant Holding
Corp. from our audit of internal control over financial reporting.
Tegrant Holding Corp. is a wholly owned subsidiary whose
combined total assets and combined total revenues repre-
sented approximately 17% and 1%, respectively, of the related
consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2011.

.?J‘\Mﬂtulmu (;n?w:. P
Charlotte, North Carolina
February 29, 2012



Consolidated Balance Sheets
Sonoco Products Company

(Dollars and shares in thousands)
At December 31

2011 2010

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Trade accounts receivable, net of allowances of $7,125 in 2011 and $8,614 in 2010

Other receivables
Inventories
Finished and in process
Materials and supplies
Prepaid expenses
Deferred income taxes

$ 175,523 $ 158,249
606,035 508,144
43,378 31,917

158,391 147,062
237,431 222,365
65,227 66,782
26,806 22,997

Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
Goodwill

Other Intangible Assets, Net
Long-term Deferred Income Taxes
Other Assets

1,312,791 1,157,516
1,020,291 944,136
1,103,684 839,748
299,700 130,400
78,869 42,100
170,835 167,114

Total Assets

$3,986,170 $3,281,014

Liabilities and Equity
Current Liabilities
Payable to suppliers
Accrued expenses and other
Accrued wages and other compensation
Notes payable and current portion of long-term debt
Accrued taxes

$ 436,732 $ 436,785
284,854 240,827

55,680 79,109
53,666 16,949
5,551 6,979

Long-term Debt
Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits
Deferred Income Taxes
Other Liabilities
Commitments and Contingencies
Sonoco Shareholders’ Equity
Serial preferred stock, no par value
Authorized 30,000 shares

0 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2011 and 2010

Common shares, no par value
Authorized 300,000 shares

100,211 and 100,510 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively

Capital in excess of stated value
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings

836,483 780,649
1,232,966 603,941
420,048 323,040

16,794 24,583
54,471 41,108
7,175 7,175

427,484 441,328
(460,299) (292,867)
1,437,435 1,336,155

Total Sonoco Shareholders’ Equity
Noncontrolling Interests

1,411,795 1,491,791
13,613 15,902

Total Equity

1,425,408 1,507,693

Total Liabilities and Equity

$3,986,170 $3,281,014

The Notes beginning on page F-6 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income
Sonoco Products Company

(Dollars and shares in thousands except per share data)

Years ended December 31 2011 2010 2009
Net sales $4,498,932 $4,124,121 $3,597,331
Cost of sales 3,742,149 3,356,589 2,931,285
Gross profit 756,783 767,532 666,046
Selling, general and administrative expenses 397,477 405,356 386,459
Restructuring/Asset impairment charges 36,826 23,999 26,801
Income before interest and income taxes 322,480 338,177 252,786
Interest expense 41,832 37,413 40,992
Interest income 3,758 2,307 2,427
Loss from the early extinguishment of debt — 48,617 —
Income before income taxes 284,406 254,454 214,221
Provision for income taxes 78,423 64,485 66,818
Income before equity in earnings of affiliates 205,983 189,969 147,403
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of tax 12,061 11,505 7,742
Net income 218,044 201,474 155,145
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests (527) (421) (3,663)
Net income attributable to Sonoco $ 217,517 $ 201,053 $ 151,482
Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic 101,071 101,599 100,780

Assuming exercise of awards 1,102 944 249

Diluted 102,173 102,543 101,029
Per common share

Net income attributable to Sonoco:

Basic $ 215 $ 1.98 $ 1.50
Diluted $ 213 $ 1.96 $ 1.50

Cash dividends 115 $ 1.11 - $ 1.08
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Sonoco Products Company
(Dollars in thousands)
Years ended December 31 2011 2010 2009

Net income $ 218,044 $201,474 $155,145
Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments (39,051) 8,119 80,780
Changes in defined benefit plans, net of tax (127,798) 13,621 56,149
Change in derivative financial instruments, net of tax (672) (2,906) 8,526
Comprehensive income 50,523 220,308 300,600
Comprehensive (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests (438) (1,653) {4,908)

Comprehensive income attributable to Sonoco

$ 50,085 $218,655 $295,692

The Notes beginning on page F-6 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Total Equity
Sonoco Products Company

Capital in  Accumulated

Excess of Other Non-
Total Common Shares Stated Comprehensive Retained  controlling
(Dollars and shares in thousands) Equity Outstanding Amount  Value Loss Earnings  Interests
January 1, 2009 $1,174,518 99,732 $7,175 $404,939  $(454,679) $1,205,540 $11,543
Net income 155,145 151,482 3,663
Other comprehensive income/
(loss):
Translation gain 80,780 79,535 1,245
Defined benefit plan
adjustmentt 56,149 56,149
Derivative financial
instruments? 8,526 8,526
Other comprehensive income 145,455 144,210 1,245
Dividends (108,979) (108,979)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling
interests (2,202) (2,202)
Issuance of stock awards 9,316 468 9,316
Shares repurchased (1,239) (51) (1,239)
Stock-based compensation 8,616 8,616
December 31, 2009 $1,380,630 100,149 $7,175 $421,632 $(310,469) $1,248,043 $14,249
Net income 201,474 201,053 421
Other comprehensive income/
(loss):
Translation gain 8,119 6,887 1,232
Defined benefit plan
adjustment? 13,621 13,621
Derivative financial
instrumentst (2,906) (2,906)
Other comprehensive income 18,834 17,602 1,232
Dividends (112,941) (112,941)
Issuance of stock awards 28,550 1,099 28,550
Shares repurchased (24,658) (738) (24,658)
Stock-based compensation 15,804 15,804
December 31, 2010 $1,507,693 100,510 $7,175 $441,328 $(292,867) $1,336,155 $15,902
Net income 218,044 217,517 527
Other comprehensive income/
(loss):
Translation gain (39,051) (38,962) (89)
Defined benefit plan )
adjustment? (127,798) (127,798)
Derivative financial
instruments? (672) (672)
Other comprehensive loss (167,521) (167,432) (89)
Dividends (116,237) (116,237)
Issuance of stock awards 26,487 1,100 26,487
Shares repurchased (49,442) (1,399) (49,442)
Stock-based compensation 12,102 12,102
Purchase of noncontrolling
interest (5,718) (2,991) (2,727)
December 31, 2011 $1,425,408 100,211 - $7,175 $427,484 $(460,299) $1,437,435 $13,613

1 net of tax

The Notes beginning on page F-6 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Sonoco Products Company

(Dollars in thousands)

Years ended December 31 2011 2010 2009
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income $ 218,044 $201,474 $ 155,145
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities
Asset impairment 12,518 9,962 12,197
Loss from early extinguishment of debt — 48,617 —
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 179,871 169,665 173,587
Share-based compensation expense 12,102 15,804 8,616
Equity in earnings of affiliates (12,061) (11,505) (7,742)
Cash dividends from affiliated companies 11,676 17,123 5,563
Loss (Gain) on disposition of assets 1,907 1,422 (14,731)
Pension and postretirement plan expense 36,853 52,599 81,380
Pension and postretirement plan contributions (142,097) (29,194) (122,195)
Tax effect of share-based compensation exercises 5,965 5,063 1,990
Excess tax benefit of share-based compensation (4,018) (4,209) (1,030)
Net increase in deferred taxes 11,036 12,498 21,689
Change in assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions,
dispositions and foreign currency adjustments
Trade accounts receivable (52,484) (66,410) (16,057)
Inventories 3,423 (57,071) 36,492
Payable to suppliers (13,798) 43,255 15,438
Prepaid expenses (2,559) (1,330) 7,393
Accrued expenses (12,174) 19,757 22,233
Income taxes payable and other income tax items 7,344 (49,993) 8,811
Fox River environmental reserves (1,959) (1,687) (6,997)
Other assets and liabilities (14,314) (704) 9,206
Net cash provided by operating activities 245,275 375,136 390,988
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (173,372) (145,910) (104,150)
Cost of acquisitions, net of cash acquired (566,908) (137,835) (5,504)
Proceeds from the sale of assets 11,121 8,486 19,909
Investment in affiliates and other — (8,450) (1,765)
Net cash used by investing activities (729,159) (283,709) (91,510)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities ‘
Proceeds from issuance of debt 680,919 365,415 24,103
Principal repayment of debt (17,054) (358,927) (45,256)
Net increase (decrease) in commercial paper borrowings (3,000) 30,000 (95,000)
Excess cash costs of early extinguishment of debt _— (49,888) —
Net change in overdrafts (8,533) (71) (2,568)
Cash dividends — common (114,958) (111,756) (107,887)
Proceeds from early settlement of interest rate swap —_ 5,939 —
Excess tax benefit of share-based compensation 4,018 4,209 1,030
Purchase of noncontrolling interest (5,718) U —
Shares acquired (49,442) (24,658) (1,239)
Shares issued 21,253 23,155 7,159
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities 507,485 (116,582) (219,658)
Effects of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash (6,327) (1,841) 3,770
(Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 17,274 (26,996) 83,590
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 158,249 185,245 101,655
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $175,523 $ 158,249 $ 185,245
Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures
Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized $ 34,296 $ 37,464 $ 34,731
Income taxes paid, net of refunds $ 54,078 $ 96,918 $ 34,328

The Notes beginning on page F-6 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Sonoco Products Company (dollars in thousands except per share data)

1. Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of presentation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the
accounts of Sonoco Products Company and its majority-owned
subsidiaries (the “Company” or “Sonoco”) after elimination of
intercompany -accounts and transactions.

Investments in affiliated companies in which the Company
shares control over the financial and operating decisions, but
in which the Company is not the primary beneficiary, are
accounted for by the equity method of accounting. Income
applicable to these equity investments is reflected in “Equity
in earnings of affiliates, net of tax” in the Consolidated State-
ments of Income. The aggregate carrying value of equity
investments is reported in “Other Assets” in the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets and totaled $108,702 and
$107,288 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Affiliated companies in which the Company held a sig-
nificant investment at December 31, 2011, included:

Ownership Interest
Percentage at

Entity December 31, 2011
RTS Packaging JVCO 35.0%
Cascades Conversion, Inc. 50.0%
Cascades Sonoco, Inc. - 50.0%
Showa Products Company Ltd. 20.0%
Conitex Sonoco Holding BVI Ltd. 30.0%

Also included in the invéstment totals above is the Compa-
ny’'s 19.5% ownership in a small Chilean tube and core busi-
ness accounted for under the cost method.

Estimates and assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America (U.S. GAAP) requires management to make esti-
mates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Revenue recognition

The Company records revenue when title and risk of owner-
ship pass to the customer, and when persuasive evidence of
an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have
been rendered, the sales price to the customer is fixed or
determinable and when collectibility is reasonably assured.
Certain judgments, such as provisions for estimates of sales
returns and allowances, are required in the application of the
Company’s revenue policy and, therefore, the results of oper-
ations in its Consolidated Financial Statements. Shipping and
handling expenses are included in “Cost of sales,” and freight
charged to customers is included in “Net sales” in the
Company’s Consolidated Statements of income.

The Company has rebate agreements with certain custom-
ers. These rebates are recorded as reductions of sales and
are accrued using sales data and rebate percentages specific

to each customer agreement. Accrued customer rebates are
included in “Accrued expenses and other” in the consolidated
balance sheets.

Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts

The Company’s trade accounts receivable are non-interest
bearing and are recorded at the invoiced amounts. The allow-
ance for doubtful accounts represents the Company’s best
estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in existing
accounts receivable. Provisions are made to the allowance for
doubtful accounts at such time that collection of all or part of
a trade account receivable is in question. The allowance for
doubtful accounts is monitored on a regular basis and adjust-
ments are made as needed to ensure that the account prop-
erly reflects the Company’s best estimate of uncollectible
trade accounts receivable. Trade accounts receivable balances
that are more than 180 days past due are generally 100%
provided for in the allowance for doubtful accounts. Account
balances are charged off against the allowance for doubtful
accounts when the Company determines that the receivable
will not be recovered.

One of the Company’s customers accounted for approx-
imately 8% of trade accounts receivable at both December 31,
2011 and 2010. Sales to this customer accounted for approx-
imately 9% of the Company’s net sales in 2011, 10% in 2010
and 12% in 2009, primarily in the Packaging Services and
Consumer Packaging segments. The Company’s next largest
customer comprised approximately 5% of the Company’s net
sales in 2011, 5% in 2010 and 4% in 2009.

Research and development

Research and development costs are charged to expense
as incurred and include salaries and other directly related
expenses. Research and development costs totaling $18,839
in 2011, $17,801 in 2010 and $14,487 in 2009 are included
in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income.

Restructuring and asset impairment

Costs associated with exit or disposal activities are recog-
nized when the liability is incurred. If assets become impaired
as a result of a restructuring action, the assets are written
down to fair value, less estimated costs to sell, if applicable. A
number of significant estimates and assumptions are involved
in the determination of fair value. The Company considers
historical experience and all available information at the time
the estimates are made; however, the amounts that are ulti-
mately realized upon the sale of divested assets may differ
from the estimated fair values reflected in the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash equivalents are composed of highly liquid invest-
ments with an original maturity of three months or less. Cash
equivalents are recorded at cost, which approximates market.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The
last-in, first-out (LIFO) method is used for the valuation of cer-
tain of the Company’s domestic inventories, primarily metal,
internally manufactured paper and paper purchased from third
parties.
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The LIFO method of accounting was used to determine the
costs of approximately 18% and 21% of total inventories at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The remaining
inventories are determined on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) meth-
od.

If the FIFO method of accounting had been used for all
inventories, total inventory would have been higher by
$20,184 and:$17,168 at December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Plant assets represent the original cost of land, buildings
and equipment, less depreciation, computed under the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
assets, and are reviewed for impairment whenever events
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Equipment lives generally range from three to 11 years,
and buildings from 15 to 40 years.

Timber resources are stated at cost. Depletion is charged
to operations based on the estimated number of units of
timber cut during the year.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

The Company evaluates its goodwill for impairment at least
annually, and more frequently if indicators of impairment are
present. In performing the impairment test, the Company first
makes an assessment regarding the likelihood of impairment.
If it is not more likely than not that goodwill is impaired for any
of its reporting units, no further testing is performed. Other-
wise, the Company uses discounted future cash flows to esti-
mate the fair value of each reporting unit it believes may have
a goodwill impairment giving consideration to muitiples it
believes could be obtained in a sale. If the fair value of the
reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the reporting unit’s
assets, including goodwill, there is no impairment. If not, and
the carrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds the
implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment charge is
recognized for the excess. Goodwill is not amortized.

Intangible assets are amortized, usually on a straight-line
basis, over their respective useful lives, which generally range
from three to 40 years. The Company evaluates its intangible
assets for impairment whenever indicators of impairment
exist. The Company has no intangibles with indefinite lives.

Income taxes

The Company provides for income taxes using the asset
and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets
and liabilities are determined based on differences between
financial reporting requirements and tax laws. Assets and
liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws
that will be in effect when the differences are expected to
reverse.

Derivatives

The Company uses derivatives to mitigate the effect of fluc-
tuations in some of its raw material and energy costs, foreign
currency fluctuations and interest rate movements. The Com-
pany purchases commodities such as recovered paper, metal
and energy generally at market or at fixed prices that are
established with the vendor as part of the purchase process
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for quantities expected to be consumed in the ordinary course
of business. The Company may enter into commodity futures
or swaps to manage the effect of price fluctuations. The
Company may use foreign currency forward contracts and other
risk management instruments to manage exposure to changes
in foreign currency cash flows and the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements. The Company is exposed to interest-rate fluctua-
tions as a result of using debt as a source of financing for its
operations. The Company may from time to time use tradi-
tional, unleveraged interest rate swaps to adjust its mix of
fixed and variable rate debt to manage its exposure to interest
rate movements.

The Company records its derivatives as assets or liabilities
on the balance sheet at fair value using published market
prices or estimated values based on current price and/or rate
quotes and discounted estimated cash flows. Changes in the
fair value of derivatives are recognized. either in-net income or
in other comprehensive income, depending on the designated
purpose of the derivative. It is the Company’s policy not to
speculate in derivative instruments.

Reportable segments

The Company identifies its reportable segments by evaluat-
ing the level of detail reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker, gross profit margins, nature of products sold, nature of
the production processes, type and class of customer, meth-
ods used to distribute product, and nature of the regulatory
environment. Of these factors, the Company believes that the
most significant are the nature of its products and the type of
customers served.

Contingencies

Pursuant to U.S. GAAP for accounting for contingencies,
accruals for estimated losses are recorded at the time
information becomes available indicating that losses are prob-
able and that the amounts are reasonably estimable. Amounts
so accrued are not discounted.

2. New accounting pronouncements

In September 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU)
No. 2011-08, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350):
Testing Goodwill for Impairment. The amendments in this
update revised the steps required to test for goodwill impair-
ment. Under prior guidance, a two-step process was followed,
the first step being to determine and compare the estimated
current fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value. If
the estimated fair value was less than the carrying value, then
step two was performed to determine the amount, if any, of
the goodwill impairment. The revised guidance allows a com-
pany to first make a qualitative determination regarding the
likelihood of impairment before performing these two steps. If
impairment is not determined to be “more likely than not,”
then the two-step test does not need to be conducted. This
update is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2011, with early adoption permitted. The
Company-elected early adoption of the update for its annual
goodwill impairment testing conducted during the third quarter
of 2011.



During the year ended December 31, 2011, there have
been no other newly issued nor newly applicable accounting
pronouncements that have, or are expected to have, a sig-
nificant impact on the Company’s financial statements. Fur-
ther, at December 31, 2011, there were no pronouncements
pending adoption that are expected to have a significant
impact on the Company’s financial statements.

3. Acquisitions

The Company completed five acquisitions during 2011 at
an aggregate cost of $566,908 in cash. These acquisitions
were accounted for as business combinations under the
acquisition method of accounting, in accordance with the
business combinations subtopic of the Accounting Standards
Codification. The most significant of these was the
November 8, 2011 acquisition of privately held Tegrant Hold-
ing Corporation (“Tegrant”), a leading provider of highly
engineered protective, temperature-assured and retail security
packaging solutions. Tegrant, headquartered in DeKalb, Hli-
nois, operates more than 30 manufacturing, design and test-
ing facilities in the United States, Mexico and Ireland and
employs more than 2,000 persons. Tegrant operates three
strategic, complementary business units. Protexic® Brands,
the largest business unit, is a manufacturer of molded
expanded foam serving a number of industries including high
technology, consumer electronics, automotive, appliances and
medical devices. Tegrant's Thermosafe® Brands unit is a lead-
ing provider of temperature-assured solutions, primarily used
in packaging temperature-sensitive pharmaceuticals and food.
Tegrant's Alloyd Brands® business unit is a leading manu-
facturer and designer of high-visibility packaging, printed prod-
ucts, sealing equipment, and tooling for retail and medical
markets.

The cost of the Tegrant acquisition was $550,000 in cash,
subject to final adjustment for changes in net working capital
levels to the date of the close. The acquisition was funded
with proceeds from the issuance of senior unsecured
debentures and a new three-year term loan. The Tegrant
acquisition is expected to generate annualized sales of approx-
imately $460,000 in the Company's newly formed Protective
Packaging segment.

The allocation of the purchase price of Tegrant to the tangi-
ble and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed was
based on the Company’s preliminary estimates of their fair
value, based on information currently available. As the acquis-
ition was completed close to the end of the year, management
is continuing to finalize its valuation of certain assets and
liabilities, including, but not limited to: property, plant and
equipment, income taxes and environmental reserves. The
Company will complete the valuation of all assets and
liabilities within 12 months from the date of acquisition.

Following is a summary of the initial fair value of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

Trade accounts receivable $ 61,219
Inventories 38,536
Prepaid expenses 2,467
Property, plant and equipment 99,417
Goodwill 268,861
Other intangible assets 182,930
Payables to suppliers (31,154)
Accrued expenses and other (34,740)
Total debt (3,966)
Deferred income taxes, net (23,722)
Other long-term liabilities (9,848)
Total net assets $550,000

Of the $182,930 of acquired intangibles, $155,400 was
assigned to customer relationships with an average expected
life of 12 years, $17,600 to trade names with an expected life
of 40 years, and $9,930 to proprietary technology and other
intangibles with an average expected life of nine years.

The fair value of the assets acquired was determined by
the Company through an independent appraisal. Goodwill
recorded in connection with the acquisition totaled $268,861
and is attributable to Tegrant’s workforce and the expected
future cash flows of the business. The Company expects
approximately $67,000 of the goodwill to be tax deductible.

The following table presents the estimated unaudited pro
forma consolidated results as if the business combination
occurred as of January 1, 2010. This pro forma information is
presented for informational purposes only and is not necessa-
rily indicative of the results of operations that would have been
achieved if the acquisition had been completed as of the
beginning of 2010, nor are they necessarily indicative of future
consolidated results.

Unaudited 2011 2010
Net sales $4,871,903 $4,552,021
Net income attributable to

Sonoco $ 214,764 $ 197,501

Diluted net income attributable
to Sonoco per common

share $ 210 $ 1.93

The pro forma results for both years include amortization of
intangibles and interest expense on debt assumed to finance
the purchase. Pro forma results for the year ended
December 31, 2011 exclude pretax charges of $3,165 relating
to the fair value adjustment to acquisition-date inventory.

Also during 2011, the Company completed the acquisitions
of several small tube and core businesses in New Zealand and
Australia at a total cost of $7,181 in cash, a rigid paperboard
containers business in the United Kingdom at a cost of
$4,698 in cash, and a recycling business in Greenvilie, South
Carolina, at a cost of $5,029 in cash. The acquisitions of
these businesses are expected to generate annual sales of
approximately $24,500 for the Paper and Industrial Converted
Products segment and $10,000 for the Consumer Packaging
segment. In conjunction with these acquisitions, the Company
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recorded net tangible assets of $6,606, identifiable
intangibles of $4,062 and goodwill of $6,240, the majority of
which is expected to be tax deductible.

The Company completed four acquisitions during 2010 at
an aggregate cost of $137,835 in cash. These acquisitions
consisted of Associated Packaging Technologies, Inc. (APT), a
supplier of thermoformed containers to the frozen food
industry, Madem Reels USA, ‘Inc., a manufacturer of nailed
wood and plywood reels for the wire and cable industry, a
small tube and core business in Canada, and a small tube and
core business in Greece. The all-cash purchase price of APT,
including the cost of paying off various obligations, was
$119,968. In conjunction with this acquisition, the Company
recorded net tangible assets of $72,895, identifiable
intangibles of $22,100 and goodwill of $24,973 (the majority
of which is will be tax deductible). The all-cash purchase price
for Madem Reels was $10,714, plus contingent consideration
of $500, which was paid in the first quarter of 2011. In con-
junction with this acquisition, the Company recorded net tangi-
ble assets of $8,263 and identifiable intangibles of $2,451.
The aggregate cost of the Canadian and Greek tube and core
businesses was $7,153 in cash. In conjunction with these
acquisitions, the Company recorded net tangible assets of
$3,026 and identifiable intangibles of $4,127.

The Company completed one acquisition during 2009 at an
aggregate cost of $5,004 in cash plus contingent consid-
eration estimated at $2,208. This acquisition consisted of the
injection molded plastics spools and reels assets and busi-
ness of EconoReel Corporation of Logan, Utah, and additional
manufacturing assets of Southern Reel, a subsidiary of
EconoReel. In conjunction with this acquisition, the Company
recorded identifiable intangibles of $3,250, goodwill of
$2,504, tangible assets of $1,458, and a contingent pur-
chase liability of $2,208. Also in 2009, the Company recorded
$500 of additional goodwill related to the payment of con-
tingent consideration on its 2008 acquisition of Amtex Pack-
aging, Inc.

Acquisition-related costs of $12,290, $1,909 and $0 were
incurred in connection with 2011, 2010 and 2009 acquis-
itions, respectively. These costs, consisting primarily of legal
and professional fees, are included in “Selling, general and

" administrative expenses” in the Company’s Consolidated

Statements of Income.

The Company has accounted for these acquisitions as
purchases and, accordingly, has included their results of oper-
ations in the Company’s consolidated statements of net
income from the respective dates of acquisition. Pro forma
results have been provided only for the Tegrant acquisition, as
the other acquisitions were not material to the Company's
financial statements individually, or in the aggregate, in any
single year.

4. Restructuring and asset impairment

The Company has engaged in a number of restructuring
actions over the past several years. Actions initiated in 2011,
2010, and 2009 are reported as “2011 Actions,” “2010
Actions,” and “2009 Actions,” respectively. Actions initiated
prior to 2009, all of which were substantially complete at
December 31, 2011, are reported as “Earlier Actions.”
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Following are the total restructuring and asset impairment
charges, net of adjustments, recognized by the Company dur-
ing the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009
Restructuring-related

charges: .
2011 Actions $34,785 $ — $ —
2010 Actions (1,023) 6,650 —
2009 Actions 1,848 4,201 28,629
Earlier Actions 1,216 576 (1,828)

Total restructuring-

related charges
Other asset

impairments — 12,572 —

$ 36,826 $11,427 $26,801

Restructuring/Asset

impairment charges  $ 36,826 $23,999 $26,801-
Income tax benefit (11,506) (9,295) (8,458)
Equity method

investments, net of

tax 17 671 908
Impact of

nonco